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irieft allaks %XIV,  

New York, December llth 1919. 

ry was empaneled and sworn. 

THE PEOPLES I TESTIMONY; 

F L '0•R.E NO, 0 I L .L, of 3491 Third Avenue, the 

Bronx, oa1le. as a witness in behalf of the loeople., being 

duly sworn, testified as follows:. 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. DONOHUE: 

Florence, how old are you? A Fourteen. 

NowItalk up so this gentleman in the corner here can hear 

every word you say, please. A Fourteen. 

MR, KIER: object to that as heareay, youx Honor. 

.-THE COURT: Objection overruled. The Court ,of 

Appeals hae'beld that a person can testify to his or her 

,kwitness is bcmpetent:to-tes?6ify as to his or her 

Am. age. But, of course the.,jury'may look at tie girl  

and .tell £' m her appeaXance. what her ge 

DONOHUE: And her mother latere, too. 

THE COURT: Objection overrulecL. 

MR. KIER: Exception. 

BY tim. iJONOHtJF: ' 

Q You Buy you are fourteen? A Yeti, .sir. 

Q . When were. yoLl.fourteen? A, October 19th, 

BY THE COURT' 

0 What •yc‘a ? A 19O. 

C., 



4:tiott teavipte oft. ituilowxi 4106 d-o" • w 

sir. 

DotroBuzt-
q What year were you born A 1905. 

And in *hat year were youfourteen? This year? A Yes, 

Q This October you wore fourteen? .A Yea, a 

, Did you go to school last Septemuer? A- Yea, si 

Q= 'What sohool did you go to? A P. S. No. 

•Q Now Where did you live during the month o eptemoer? 

A 3491 Third Avenue, Bronx,. 

Q Near what street is that? A 168th,Stree 

That is in the Bronx, is it not?' A Yea, s ir 

Q And who do you live with there? A My' mother and father. 

Q Now, do y u.remember the night of September 13th 1919? 

A 'Yes, sir. 

Q -Do you lnow what time ,you got home, that day from school? -

A -1 didn't go to .schOol.that day. 

Q . Were you in your house about six o'clock that night? 

A -Y s r. 

Q What tnne did you leave your house? A About quarter 

eight.to  

Q And *here did you go to?. A I went to my house. 

Q Where does your auntlive? A Intl  Street. 

Q. What number?, 4 ,360. I think. 

Q On the east Side or _the west side?. A mast side. 

Near *hat riommue is that? A SpOond Avenue. 

MOM 



perirmilt. :v. *arm- tsreofe 

44,#st, 

Q Do you remember how you went down there Florence?. A Yee. 

sir, I went down thexe in the oar, a Willis Avanue oar. 

Q And how lbngdid you stay at your amt's house? A 

waited until she oame home from market. 

q No. About what time did you leave there? A At ten 

minutes to eleven. 

Q At ten minutes to even ,you left your aunt's house? A Y 

sir. 

Now, just describe,the streets that you,walk d through? 

walked :through 126th Street. 

Q' What Avenue did you walk on? A Second Avenue. 

You walk d on ,peoond Avenue to 325th 'Street? A Yes, sir; 

and 1 walked, down to get the oar to go home, down to 125th Street. 
at 

Q And/what aVenue were you going to get the oar? A First 

Avenue. 

' 

You waked down Second Avenue to 125th Strpetr A Yes sir. 

2$th Street? A walked And how fax did you walk on 

in the 

 

middle 4)f the bloc" 

Did you meet somebody there? A Yes, sir. 

Whom did you meet? .A John McGowan. 

And did you have a tdk with John McGowan? A 

me where I was ptag and I said I was going home. 

Q And what did he do to you at that time? A He took m 

money. 

±obeOt that. 

He asked. 
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Ain831 

THE GO ObjeotiOr sustained. Strike it out. 

Y MR. .D0i1ORIA:: 

Q Well, you had a talk with John MoGowan? A Yes, air. 

Q What oar were you going to get? 'A The Willis Avenue 

Oar. 

.Q 

And where did. you get that oar?. A First Avenue. 

And what street? 125th Street. 

Now, did. you. walk, or did you., stand a while, while yoli, 

were taking to Modowan A Well, walked. 

Q And you walked with him? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you meet anybody while you were walking with him? 

A Yea, sir, this here ban Einer came along indicating the 

defendant). 

Q Did you meet anybody else? A No, sir. 

Q Well, who walked then With you? A Einer. He walked 

oWn to 125th Street to the corner. 

Q And where was MoGowan? A He was with me. 
v11. 

Did you meet anybody elsebeside Einer and MoGowan? A 

Did. you meet ever this2iferman boy. I 

1.Z Where.,d4d-ypu go 'Plea? -A To 125th St;ee, and Fil*t. 

Avenue. 

Q. And where was Tifertan at the time this defendant? 

.By ur couRT: 

Did7you know John-Mopowan?. A Yea,, 01r. 

Ciffij 
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• Q,.ror how long had you known him before this day?' A About 

four, months. He used to live in 125th Street, 

BY MR. DONOHUE: 

Q Did you know him to Iregitc talk to?, A 011, when 

went past he just said, "Hello, to me.O. 

Q And you were  with Tiferman, this deferidait, and McGowan, 

walking along? A Yes, sit. 

BY THE COURT: 

.Did, you know Bluer Tiferman before that night? 

sir, John McGowan said, -"This is ,a, short way to 129th Street 

to get the elevated. I wanted to get home quicker, and, as 

we were going to 129th Street --

'BY MR. DONOHUE: 

Wait a millute. Not so fast. Had you met anybody else 

up o this time?, A No, sir,. 

Did you meet Harry Tiferman? A No, sir. 

Nov, who va it said, "This is a short out?" A John 

McGowan. 

And did Tiferman say anything at the time? A He was on 

the corner 'and we just' going in the lots. 

Q Now •was it dark light there? A It was d 

*Q And did you go in the lots? A Yes, sir. 

Who went in with you? • A JohnS Z, Gowan and me, 

Q And,what did you go into the its for? A Bedause it 

was a short out. It is JL1ce a street. You can go though there 

AVOW 1 
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to get the elevated. 

Q Had you ever been through there before? A• Yes, air; 

lifted to walk that way to get the elevated, in h day tme. 

Q And how fa. did. You get into the lots before anything 

haiened? A  It  was just at the' end. 

Q And how far had you gotten into the lots? Row many 'fee 

would you say? A About twelve feet. 

Q Now, had you met anybody else up to the birne you c.otualiy 

got into the lots? A No, sir,. 

Q Then what happened to you at that time? Now, tell vs 

everything in detail. A Then, as we were going it the lots, 

this man heTe tiner, (indicating the defendant) ran and tried to • 

get me down on the ground: 

THE COURT: Strike that out. 

BY THt COURT: 

What did. he T -A He grabbed me by the throat (illustra-

ting), and he had hi hand over my mouth, and was pulling me down. 

on the ground, 

BY MR. DONOHUE: 

Q,' Go ahead. A' ,And I was holding on to, this John MoGowan'S 

ooat ,and he st-.4d, 11,11et,ve me alone, and 'I will help you 'and I let, 

.114.m go, and h never nelped me at all 

Q What was this defendant, doing all thattime? 

T COURT: 

He got bOliL of you by the throat,s e , 

WOW, 

forda. 



DONOHUE: 

Q And did he drag you down to the ground? A Y 

And .John MoGowan left hold of me, and stood over there 

Q, And did you grab.MoGowan 

tell somethingsand I objeot 

THE OOtJRT: He is not I 

Exception. 

q What else .happened after that? A He pulled up my .skir 

skirt was half, off me , and he ulled.upmy dress. 

Q And where was he at the tlme, Einer? A He was on top 

Q And where were you? A on the*grOund. 

Q Were you lying flat on the ground? 

up to that time, And then Harry oame.along, an5i. •h 

hold ormy arm and held 'me down by the.lf)ft shoulder.-
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Harry .who? A Harry Tiferma 

And what happened after he name along? A Why, giner said 

to John MoGowans "Give me that thing 'andI'll hit her on the 

head with it. 

Did you know what thing hemeant? 4 No, sir. 

'Now what happened after that Florenoe? You were on 

the ground, and Etter was on to  of you? A Then he pulled up my 

skirt, and I had myface swollen; the next morning. This man 

punched mgi, (indiouting, the defendant). 

Q Einer punolled you? A Yes, sir. 

..Q nen did. he punch, you? A When he was on top of me. 

And what happened then? A And then the deteotives 

Q Well, what wa's he doing all the 'time: he was on top Of 'yott? 

A .11e said, "Are you going to give ‘ it to me when he W4a3 pu,nohin 

me and lifting up my skirt. 

What did he ,do with yourskirt? A He pull d. it up., 

Q Over your. head? A• No,  sir, he pulled it up straight. 

Q And where were his hands? A lie was holding my mouth with 

one hand, and with the other hand he w4s holding my skirt up. 

And he was on to  of you? A Yes, sir. 

And did he do anythIng else? A Noi, 

you see vvhether or not his trousers were o e 

sir. 

It, was very urk' .theri!, it nOt?.A 

Q And you allsd-ou“OZ..hel did.. ? 



o that last question, "very dark 

ht or dark there? A 14rk. And then the deteo-

•.Q And who were. there When, the detecties cam 

John MCGowan.and.Harry. 

Q• Did: you pee the dttectives.before the. 

Einer when he first saw the detectiges 

the detectives came into the lots? 

q And what did. he do then? 

S When he got up did you see what he did.? A 1. 

Q Did You s e'hiM do anything ,with his trousers? A No, si 

Lien the.detotives caught him a/ad.:Asked OB' to tellAvy.stOry, 

id to the detectives. 



the station 

Ana how long were you at the station house 

knoW how long. 

you go home. thatt night? A Yep 

Q Did' you tell any of your family about this 000urrenoe?' 

R. KIER: I object to anything further than that, 

thing beyond that fact'. 

THE COURT: Well, you have testimony 'as to the arriva 

of the police, auct it is competent in a rape in a first, 

degree case to show disclosure or complaint was made. Yoi 

have testimony that the police officers oame there. Toi 

MR..DONOHUE: I asked.h r if she told her story. 

BY MR. DONOHUE: 

When the police officers arrived on the 

a oompiaint uai4inst these men'? 

THE COURT: Inswer that yes or no. 



: 

)41. DONOHUE: She ip your witness, Mr.. Kier. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR ICIER: 

Q Novi, Fforence, you knew John MoGowan sale time; did. you 

not? A- Yes, e 

.Q A couple of years? A N 

Q A lear? A air. 

BY THE pOURT: 

How long? A About five months. 

BY MR. 

Q During the five months you frequently sa John MOGowan 

Yes, ear." 

Q Did you go to artiea and dances withhim? A No, air0 

Q Well, where did you-usually see him? On the corners? 

A Yes. 

Q Iu the,, evenings? A Yes. 

Q And you would stand, there sonetinlea for an hour,  Chatting 

with him in the evenings? A No, 

Q Well, you iould stand talking to him? A NO. I just went, 

past hiM s4id "Rene and that's all. 

Q Weil,did. not you emmetimes chat With h.iin for a few minutes 

A Yes, 

Q And about w old. is John? 

A, About twenty-one. 

Q Do you know where he 

Q Well, as I underst,t,n 

e ty or thirty or what? 

yes? A No E0.1,‘ 

t this pltAce this 600urxe4, 

J IJ 



th,ere.yo. met tbeaep69pe, that night1 is in the neigbbor.. 

of where your aunt resides? 

'q And.she has lived there sometime? A Y 

Q Did you ever live there with her? A 

Q Did you ever stop there with her, days and. nights at a. 

neighborhood? 

Q Now, where did you say you first met John Modowa40, that 

ght? A 125t4 Street; in .the middle oftha block. 

Q Between First and Second 'Avenue? A First and. Seoond 

yea. 

Arid .about what time was that? A About eleven 

whatiaVenue? A Second Avenue. 

And Second .Avenue? 4 

Now s yOu walk down Second Avenue to 125th Street?  
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And then you met McGowan in the midd,le•o the -blook? A Y 

Did. he speak to you or, ddyus eak to him? A. •H spoke 

tome. 

Q How ;Long did y u remain with h.im there talki g? A Abou 

ten .minutes. 

Q Were you at the moving  pieture show? A No, sir. 

Q Well now, what time did you go t o your alwiti s h,euse, ' about. , 
' that c ay? A I guess it was a/quarter of eight I left my houme, 

and 1 got there abut half past eight. 

.Q, You got to your aunt, .* house abo t half past eight? A Yes, 

Q Y u didn,,t stay with. your aunt until eleven; did you? 

A Yes, Sir, I di 

Q; Are there any grl In .her family? A Yes, sir., 

Whttsyoi'aunt'a name?  A Wright. 

Q And the number is where? A 300 East 126th Street. 

Q Has your, an.nt any ohild.ren girls and boys? A Yes,sir. 

Q Now, •:turing the time from, the time you arrived a 

your aunt' 0 house, about r quarter of e ight A No, half ,past 

eight. 

About half. past eight? A Yes, left my house a 

quarter of eight. 

Until you dent d.own to 125th Street 

YOU iO,flf tin that me? A IW14. just tbin 

'D home what were , 

wAtin for her. 

f 

n. 



take her until .eleven clack to ge 

guess it did; because she bad to go on 

Was tilers any particular reason why you should 

to he  houde, 

Q You were to. carry a: rneesae3 somethin like 

u there the day before or a week before? 

a long time before that that 

4co. 

there with your aunt 



1.6 , 

:Did he ever he axzy relatibns *ith'.yoU A Nip' 

Q --Did he ever visit you at your house in t*.Brot4t7H 

A No, air. 

Q Or at your aunt's house? No, six, 

(4 'Did he . ever go to the movies or - dances with ou ? 

:A No, sire 

Q Then, -whenever YOu had a talk witli TaM, it was around 

the cornera the streets Yes.; 

ci I asked Yot) i.0 you had. any relations with him1. Do you  

knot what. T mean? A Yes, 'sir". 

BY TIE COUPT:' 

-(z Sexual relations,, k NO, n.. 

.:Y ML KIER: 

Q Were you .friendly 'ri.b him or a fectionate towa,rds him? 

No, sir.., I just said hello to him. 

Q And he is the only  by you, knew in tt neighberhoOd? 

Well, just a. few more,his friends. 

Q ,And you met arid balked 'with the A No -T didnt 

Q. 1)0 You Te4leabOT 00111P of the boy 1s names arour4 tnere? 

A, No, sir. 

Now, what day of bhe yo f i, Florence?, Sep.-

tember 13th p' 

Q But I mean a:that dal r thC v ek? Saturday r4ht. 

Q Saturday night? A yes, sir. 

Had you got ,o school that '.1e 

How lonfi, 'was ince you 'lad gone .O school? 

MOO 



adn It been to sohool since, it open d 

:Q• Since the fall term opened? i Yes, sir  

Had you been to school the former part of the 

year,:in the spring? A Yes, sir. 

Q In June? A Igot a suen€on from theBoard of 

Education. 

Q For hat purpose? A For nervous 

q' were you sickly? yes, sir. 

e B4 

Q, Were you under a doc or% are? A. tes,el.r, In ths 

Harlem  Hospital. 

Q Did you have headaches or ethin like that? A 

sir. 

Well, how were y sic l? way 1,re you weak? 

d heart trouble--- pneumonia in the heart.. 

Q Ncw, then, you left ohoo iz Jtne r ii May, or 

time . as it?, A In June, 

0, Had you gOr U the year up to t tiMe? What do , 

YOU ,say? 

9. you one to school up to that time? A. Yes', sir. 

How many years? A don't Itnois how iry years, 

Q Were you, on ,aro1, or ayt.uin like the, ;90 

Were you aro1e froi re II ichoo r nyt hing 

like .that:? A NO sir, 

Nothing Iike 'that? A. No,.tr'. 

An(4 'you have never bee on ...ole f r ythi±g? A )1 

criw:a 
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Q Were any complaints made by,your pare tr3 ror keeping 

late hours? A No, sir, 

Nothing of that kind.? A N 

Your parents' -never Made any complaint? No, sir.  

o, sir. The only time I ever was Out late las with fattier 

and mother. 

Q And where do they live? A In the Bronx. 

They live together up there? A Yes sir. 

Nowl. Sure. 

And aL ays? A Yes. 

CI And you always ived 2trith•them? A Yes, sir., 

You :understand my qUeStion, that at no „time did 

your parents or anybody else compla-in about, your keping 

late hours? A No, sir,  

Nothing that kind, t any place or any time 

T.4(4 ir 

Now, then you krow m boys up lu your own neighbor—

hood, do you not? Yee 4 I only 'stay- down until a quart r. 

after nine, and I se thaz at the door. 

Did you go around ,d h those boys at 4.1? A No,  sir. 

Did you go to an:y denose with them? No, si.i ' 

.kTlew now Lo dance. 

Or to the movies? A No, r. 

No ycu say, that jou met John MoGowa or lth street,. 

betw n First and SeoondAveite, on rnouth '13 (.16: 1'3B, 

LI 

i 



Q. Afld,,That did you do with hint ? 

my eighty cents out of my nd, and, of cour 

eighty cents, because I didn't have any,fare 

Q, And then where did you go with him, before you met 

He was just going to take m home, 

this man came up indicating the defendant), 

met. him bet*een First and Second 

the lower side of 125th *Street.? 

Q Yids it the. .Uptown• or .downtown 

Street between First and. Se °mid Avenue 

NON) you know thit 

litas• the uptown side Of -th tz) 

Q, And. which way did. you, go with him? •To.wardi Pirsi 

Towards First Avenue . 

Q Now, you.new perfectly well how...to get home, 

111.111B Avenue Car at First Avenue and 125th Street.? 

take. th. elevator, that night and get home 

evatOr will tale me home much quicker. 

v o.ild have to walk up to Third Avenue A wouldn 



maloraic1)7.6. 
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And to 12, al Stree? ,,Y 

'Well, you could get on t173 El at 125th Street, couldn 

you? A ,Yes but you have to ohange* 

Well 129th Street we sane distance from where you 

were when you met John McGowan? A Yes, but I O.1dnt want 

to change 

Q  But you could have got tbe i11is Avenue car right 

where you 'V re ? A Yes but  the el eve, tor would take me home 

ker, because the oar stops at every corner. 

Q Yes, but it stop's at your door? A No r, at the 

corn 

Where ct,, you live? A 158th- Street,.: 

Well, you had. started to go on the Willis Avenue car; 

tt‘ that true? A Yes. 

Q, And then, vhen you were there, vçhy did you change your,  

, mind? A I ',anted to.go. homeLiuicker. 

Q, We21 didlnit you think of that before band? A Yes. 

.1.3ut, when he took 'my eighty cents, it would *make me later to go 

home because the car stops t every corner. 

Q, It is the Sthe price on the El, as it is n the surface 

or  five cents?' A' Yes. 

Q And his takin youi eighty oCnto 1iaJ nothinto d 

with goin cm the elevator oD t su.faoeoar? A Well 

didn't ?axe any money. 

Q An( you could have ,on n either onet fl no, sir, 

Q Well,y he tux toi.v...rtds 'Second 



129th-Street;. to;get the 129th.Street elevator 

Well, you didn't go up First Avenue, beoause It stop 

there? DoesnTt it stop here at tile bridge, First Avenue? • 

she voluntarily went. up into this 

I went to take a walk up there 

tha.ti.she watii in ft •posi:tibn there to get on the oar 

0 go rieht .ler home, but she goes away 

to get a 129th Street oar. 

It mat/ Only two blocks. 

There is a (30144 hare of. atepapfed 

rape n the second degree, and eVen ifshe oonsent 

it would not relleye- tiE def nde.nt of criminal responsi-

bility, because the law does not permit' he?; to give 



to meet, both counts. 

w, ..Florence, 'where• did you mee 

• time, TifverMan, the défndant after 1eavin Fl 

and .125th atreet, ivith McGowan? 

Whe .e? A . In the middle of ths 

Q

 

That that was when you oame beck again. 

when we was :going, this Einer canie along.: 

Q. And were you introduced 

spoken to him several.times before that night? sirs 

11 or Ilossell? 

fellow of that name, or some 

introducal you to Eimer? 

Q Isn't it a.fact that you had se6n Eimer six Or seven 

"times, and had talked' to him Prior to that night? A No, si 

QNOW, then, you, McGowan and Finer went up •25th 

re et to' where? 

To First Avenue? 



• ''' 

where did you go from tare? ‘11p to t the 129th 

Street elevator. Yo go right around the corner *o. go 

*up to 127th Street to get  the 129th Street elevator. 

41 you don't mean that you went up First Avenue to 127th 

Street,, do you? A Yes. 

Are you sure now? A The, sir. 

Dontt First Avenue Ltop thee at the Wi.1is Avenue. 

,Bridge and 127th Street? But I Wanted tQ get home 

qui c k 

An sn t. ttat the end of the avenue? Yes.. 

Q. 'Then, you can t go up First Avenue above 125th Street 

because there ..ie no First Avenue above 12.5th. Street;is. there, 

A NO, i-

tir. Well, what Avenue d you go 4? First Avenue. 

Q where aid • you 'g First Avenue 

into 1:27th. Strt. 

'First Aven.ue into 127- Street? t Yes, sir. 

And then di6, you o long 127th Strst with both these 

boys? . siz. With John filoGOwan.. And on 126th Street 

he said, tt axri going to leave you, and a .'ive were going 

:,vait. a minute, A 12(..t: , St t oorn 

First Avemjs. Finer said bat. 

126th Street corner Emu, et .Avenue? A Yea, 'sir. 

Q. And tre 1irier Tifverman said, "I am going' to leave 

41141414 

_ 



Q And that ii t1e last y 

as we was going into .127th Ste et, he come running •along, 

and. he started Pulling me clown to get• me on thr grou.nd. 

Q Then, as I understand it) .the didieave you aria 

McGowan .yent 'towards 127th Street? 

On which side? The: upper or lower side? 

bronx :side • or the downtown side:?, Was it ri ght in 

.or .on the sidewalk? 

Q. Slit nobody die° over..ed any marks? 

breath for half. ari ho.jr, and my face -swollen 

and my lips ,t 

Was Jo ll McGowan thei.e. 

Q Did he say anything? 
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Q' Your ol,othes were nbt torn) were the Yea they 

%vers.. 

Q Well, no clothese takei off? f nell, he pulled 

my ‘skirt hall' Off. 

It is not ,the skirt that you arewearing? sir* 

The skirt 'as rsot team? A No,, sir -

No were you on the ground with your back on the 

ground at any time You were not that far down; were you 

ye 

No. He gQt e straight ere you Bitting down? 

on my back. 

Q. Was that on te p voment? A On the ground* 

Q Was it a payet rtrn1? A Dirt+ 

Q And: at this time nobody ,wa there but oGowan and 

Tify rm ? A No ire 

you have your hat on? t No, sir, it was pulled 

Was it the thneat you have on now? Yes,* 

Q Are th clothes that you hareon rpow th same? 

Q vld'ere your or shorter? A 'No; niD just 

onci; s'a my skirt is now 

And is this skirt -ong r th&n tI ore you had on then? 

sir.,. about the same len 

Q There x on you at :aI ? 



And ..yoUrt shouldere on the•ground? 

Q Well, your head was. up,'I presume? 

Your head. was pointed up? 

Q And you y he had his han 

nda at this particular time when you say 

tiut he had one bead over your mouth? 

And -hat did he do-wi th the o 

over your mouth, as you 

Q Walt: nay 4ueStioX1 And:: he hp..d' pulled uYr' y Our out ei 

that one was .pulled. u sndthe skirt, too. • 

ki rt r my mi •iy bloue e we re pill up. 

' Anc when you were in that position, you s you •,t. ere 



And then the officers came le that trite, 

when the officers came up t.here 

on • t be ground.; were you? 

Q, How rils.ty officers were there? 

And were your clothes up then? A 

Q. You got up yourself, T -presume? 

Q. No officers  assisted you to get up? .. A to 

Q Nor, how far, after this occurrence did. you go 

tkx to the officers?. Where. were they 

:end of that table- (itdicating the District Attorney 

Q, 4nd then you went over to  them 

*0-4 • t en apt still t here ar. 

Qn _ top of me'when tbe deteot1vss came, 

He: on top _0 r 1cu r., ben teOtVt,3 cr.mi e 8 



76,4: A 

o t.00f you, you say? A Yee, sir. 

Q Fiat on top of you? A Ye ir: 

Q And did you see what the officers did? Did tbey 

take hold of McGowan the offiaers? A No sir; he ran 

away,. 

t hey cane he y? sir 

And what did thi.s you fellow io ..indic tin 

Aqiclant ? A Ete ot up • , and, 'be st rt ed to run, =eel the 

I. attires got him,: 

About ho w far Ud he ru kE y ou are that, he -*1.1.dn 

walk fast? A No sir, he ran, One detective ,Aras nearly 

'up to him, and,th n, he ran, tb other tectiv grabbed 

Q, Well, can you. tell about bow far. he ,ran befor,e he 

caught  7\ show Qs in •this rq0 

bONAELIE: She ai he. ,6 tart %I, ±o ur. 

MR. lain: Now, let her te a.1 it in her own' Tay . 

.Now, h i -Ihe ,run befoe :the officer ca,ught him? 

Look .a, t the wall besUee .you,„ and the iall, across ttie court 

room.,; • 1,1h1 Ch ,Cn.e indic-ating th ic1 vail116,1:6E.t to her 

ITFItr": About i'bteen feet? - 

MR. . :yes ,Suppoce,% 

riliT711•„; 

then the of ilber roht ‘1)110 

y ace 'also $1,•,t7  

'13 

ri 

L..' 1 
-7D 



p you, were on your back? A Yes, sir... 

MP. \ KIER: Tt.ta.t is 

RE-DIPTCT EXAM TN CIO BY MR . 

Florence, 

defendant? A 

And. did you 

MR. Y1 

-all. 

roRATIt7E: 

f course you are not marriedis 

ir, 

call out pretty loud? 

',Vat a riornent, please . Iobjeot.. 

Tar COURT:Suet 
•,11Y RT: 

That na 

A "Help,he 1 

In a 4uiet .one? 

put hand'over nay. mouth 

1RE-CROFE.' EXAMINATION, PY MP 

xeql, you 1.i,, 

your mouth;  L i. y ou? 

hand over My mouth.' 

How 'di., d you all o 

Let her sotate 

yur call?  

29 

ow ,dj you call? 

A No, 1r, loud. Arid• then  he . 

and:, T. ci.:U.1(.41.? t • holler any more. 

TflZR. • 

all out ',then the hand. ia8 Wfty.from 

Ye el and th en he put his 

for help? I so eaüie d out. 

'.Q. .iI: ., I fl g...- •-o 11 TLL, of- 349..1 ••.'Tp.. t Avenue) 
. , .., 

Bian,•-k.. .4,41,,,i)r."; 'vi:tneal.,4' on 1'haJf o'' -t•fne peo . 1,:r:).1 la g ...W.' 

'r..-J I'll , , CIO t1,1.1.$ 4, f0:1'.1,:olfs: 

-DT.11l' .•.T.:XAMINATIOt- PY,•. M. voNA ITT!: t 

..40,- !,:il re .. otN11:.),.. t#11.6. LI; i' r.1 ,' t0 !ma, • QZ1 the stand 'just 
... 

 be -

tore you she 101 1.• 

• DO vut 0•!,'•)r  

,„. 

rn ? 



-ereirrr 

'tit October, 1905. 

Q Where? A New York City. 

Q, And wlie,t ie your trusband's name John 0 'Ns ill, 

Q And .'Ithere did you live at the, e? A I Lhink 

was 426`East 122nd Street. 

A. do you knot wh re your husba d orn? • 

Yorls „ 

you were born. Where? New J 

PONOHIJ Now f your T.-Ton ease T offer 

in oVidenoe a certified acpy o.f the records Of the 

Board of ,Health, showing is girlts age. 

TT.31' 0,0UPT: 'Itny ojeot.on to its wallas s ? 

TCTW1 IO sir, 

T97. COURT : On ?oneent, it wil b aitte. 

Marked People" Exhi it 

DONOHUE: May rea.4 itto the ur ir? 

T1-17 COURT: Yes.'  

(i/fr. Donahue reads vexhil'..)it to t±i jury.) 

G Whered you live, Mrs. O'Nil1 on' December 13th 

of this yekr A 3491: Third Avenue. 

Q And did your daughter live ewith ycu? A Yei 

Q Have .y0u any other Ohildren? • :A Yeeo .bLrb 

And y cu all :11 ye together , you and you r husband 

• A Yes sir. 

or do you rem.otthe 

r. 

Li 

Li 



Ot14 t 4t$hl did ,y0t.tr 

Some t-hing around a civarter ‘0.1`eight 

• Q And when etB lefts did you notice her. 

Did you notice }ler• clothes? 

THE COURT: •Let her give 

Q Were ti-ey' dirty? 

UR. FIE: / object to that. 

irlir COURT: Strike out he an 

!year, that n 

The same tat that c.he is 



en. next did yOu see her? 

around tvitel.ve otolook that *night.. 

BY t.TE COURt: 

Des crib her oolt1on 

BY M.R. DONOHUE: 

the condition of her cloth 

PY Ml. UONOHLT: 

of r dress 6. green •gates• stains on her elbows. 

Well, describe her condition fully, her clothes, 

were to'flornt. •• A. Well, they -ripped indjffe 

had c.)n a, middy blouse, • a low 

,31Dput to here (ind.icating). 

Q And what "Kind of material wa.1 it made of? Li 

-And ,jtrJ,11 yo-.). give 

Just point o:tat.(:)n yo•cta. ovn Are'ok, Mrs. 

• Q ,And 1,TA:le that , b 3. 0.119 e • in 

came ...hi:111e as ..f/h ea • she left? • 

'ir—nce about it? 
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i1 he e1eevs and ripped ix the neck.* 

How 1111..101. -10,9 t iiped in the no ? A T couldn't 

tel.!. you how much. Dowx the fronts 

What -war§ . thecondition of her kir t when kthe got home 

Thr vas dry (3..irt on it • 

when you say •iUtt,". what co you A Dry dirt from 

the ground 

And did. you notice her 1-c1othes?' No, t 

take notice of her Underclothes She  didn't chare until 

she. went down to t he Society, ,the next morning 

Mt. IiR I object to hat; and move to etr ke 

it. out, 

'ri.1i COURT Yes Moticn granted. Ftrtke that 

Out „, 

Bit MB. rommit 

Did you nOtiCe anytnin bt,i4 heruhderol thes ? 

'TIER:, object. She ,said sh t book at 

or iption of COU T.: .•' She, may aive 

lo thin g vhen tp cnilJ returne,.• 

TioN.onvF: 

Q. .ijdyoi:c look at'' hex' un.dorc 

.Tdlnot, 

YoU 'did not? " NO, 

.Dtd çihe , jl.at 11 t. hb,pip:).ti • o 

ehe noticed anythiii 

hing she r etu :r wed? 

MOW, 

n 



a case of this kind; this 

ity she had to complain was to 'the, police, 'and therefOre$,' 
to 

think it is unnecessary to attempt ArittOduce this testi—

an nY 

BY MR. -DONOHUE: 

Q• Who was home when your daughter retuxn 

myself and the two children. 

Q And you had a talk with ber? Did you 

MR. .DONOTITIF:.he Is your •witnesa.. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY M 

Now did' you' 'know John Mc Gogan? 

Q.Never saw him before 

Never heard of him until • this 't ime? A No , 

Did you ever make any complaint about your 

being incorrigable, or anything of the kind? A 

Tier father • 

r MOUt h min owollen and there bruises Ind• soratches.ekrouild: 



Jf 

Now , when s he left the house,th at ni gt, Were there 

any bruises or marks on her face? A No Sit 

Q As far as you can say, it vas all rigil 7, 

Objection sustained 

Q What was the condition o.. her face when she let your , 

house that c v. cling? A All right 

'I' HE COURT:. 'strike that out She may state 

con i t ion of her face, and th jury must determine whether 

she was all right or not 

mEi..lioNoky 
va -What was the o ond ti on of her .foe? Theres 

nothing.t.he It-Sitter with her face 

:COURT.: trike that out.. 

Tfr.,' COT: 

Cant you -state her . condi ti on „ Madam? ims,dy s t ,t e 

her condition? A Good condit ion . 

Q No, no, Qv w e returned  her' sae was 

swol len , nc theie wlre.imaxi,c9 a4.16..bp:asos upon her Thee, 

when ehe returned hoe?- .• yeeit si 

.Q, Is. 'that right? A Yes sir. 

ovir? when &e lefb you. house,  wht mark's, i1*-ELPY4 

,v ere • on her facet A Not ary. 

Q Was her face 99/01 lend? A o, eJr . 

II I 
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POS,S ElcAliINWPION 13Y MB. KM: 

Q At the time :when your children go out to take a 

walk---- ivittdrawn. You didn t- examine her particularly hen 

she left you, that right; did you!? A Why, '1 r,rific sick 

Alhen my d uhtez' lrft me that  night nervousness. 

Q Were You: Pretty, badly ick? A well, Iam nerous 

rat times, end must take to my bed* 

And then • you di t not ice her p -?'ti cularly w en she 

le did yet? A phere ras nothing the matter.  with her. 

441 h, you di n It make any p8rt1 1,4ar e.xam 

t on? A o. 

1011,4idn't,nOtice axiytMng nparticular?: 'Y u viere 

sick enough to be in bed? A Yss sir. 

SILVIO ETTO Main office called 

as a witness On be h lf o the Peopie .1?"eir,ig duly sworn, 

as follOwe: 

DIBFr'T rAMxArToN . DONOHUE: 

What i your rank in PoUcepelrtmen, sir? 

Acting Detotie etglent Second Grade, 

(4 And to 'hat prticUlar bureau are you attached'? 

The MaJn 0 r rieJ cm Se cond. Deputy Comm 

office 

AAnd h N. 'iorig h8ve you been so assigned, officer?  

For about sixrnonths.' 

A othe or 1.1 

t•if ietl. 

.7=-] 

Li 

1. 



ve a talk with F3 0 ITI ebody 

ntion attraoted to 127th 

/t livas attracted. fixst 

Q Did you see Florenoe that night? 

iQ Where and Iben and. under what ci roumstanoes? 

Salt( .her lying on the 

n the north side o 

As 1 and officer 44-Taglip were walking-vest on 127th Stre 

from First Avenue, ne.ar IT ere Florence 04Neill 
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Os lying 04 tlgrourc3.,- saw the defendant Einer Tifvelman, 

jump upanc run, and he run n my direction and I 'stopped. 

Where was he when you first s w him? A lie was 

standing in front o Plrence OtNill,who was lying on 

.?.;.round and lthen we were about nine or ten feet from them, 

he ot up ani ran , 
T? rpi COURT: 

You s y he vs standing in front o her? A He was 

kneeling down . 

RV mR. 50NOHUE: 

Q, Now, just in vhat position, did you find tiB defend= ? 

The, defendant ws appa,rently kneeling down in front of the, 

girl., who 'ivaS lying on. her back. 

left KM: object to that,your Honor please, 

he was apparently doing. 

T.TTC.r„tuRT . s trike tbat Out, 
' 

BY ' COURT 

Describe the oondj -n vioh You found the de fAndan. 

Was he s td in  e reo t vta,8 is body bent :dQwn?A. When 

first oboe rited the de f enzlant, he ,was, kneeling clown 

:e on t of the cir,ho '7 as lying on her bac k; and, as 

tsot about et nearer hem, .. then bet up rind 

d he ran 1n my. direction,and I stopped, him. 

Y M 50110T-172 r 

Where -thecit.hZY orfioer, hat tIma? 

ii 



TT, COURT': Strike out t 

skirt and petticoat re loose, and rei.e hanging down. She 

, had to .grab them .Nit)a- her hands, to  hold them up(illustrating) , . 

61.4d-Iler middy 1216us, was torn here (indicating) In fror 

and her lips were swollen, atld tIre Was a little blood • 

and- her back of .he 1 dirty tr.= : the dirt .an 



.time? 

shi make a 9014Plaint to you?' 

M. KIER: Obj eot d to. 

I'FF, COURT: The object ion to the . former ques t ion 

sustained, aid the testimony stricken out, but the 

Distrbt 'Attorney has a right' to ask the officer, if the 

•girl made a complaint to him, Yes* or no but the details 

cannot be g 

MR. PONOHU I am not asking for any dtails. 

Did this girl make a, complaint to you on that night? 

Yes s 

T.RT COURT: In a Case of rape in. the first degree, 

an outcry or a disclosure ma1 by  the girl 

at the first opportunity'. which presented itself to her, 

is rniissibIe,. But .the details connected. with the 

disclosure are not permissible. But here the testimony 

is limit . to an answer yls or no, as ixhether the ‘' 

0.1:1 made a complaint. Answer that question •offi-

cer,. 

BY MR, PONORM7: 

id she make a• complaint fi ce ? A yes, sir. 

And did yu pl ce the defenant and.et arrest at that 

Yee r. 

Q, And, A/a th.  f ndant walking or running 'at th e  time 

you s topp him? A He was running; just starting to .run. 

Inlet 3 id. h say to, you? •Don't,tell Us -that'. you said: 

o his. A He said "I eat not doing anytbing. 

01111111 
• - V 

' 
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,And what 1d you SaY, to him? A And, I said Wells 

what have you cot ..,bat girl on the ground for? 

TT47 C.70URT.: No,  strike that Out, dive only 

what the defendant said. 

BY MR. •DON6HTEr 

Q Thai did the dfeniant say? not dGing 

thing. 

Q What el s did say? A He sa d just sitting 

IOwn vith the girl., waiting fOx .a r.tend of his to come baclz 

And "-I said Who is Your friend?" And he said, "M0Gowan, 

,said "Where did he aco?" And ho said, "He said e ',vas 

going over to Second Avenue to buy s ething 

And 1ncn I searched him, and I took t rock out of his 

Pocket indicating), and T. said "What are, yo doing with this 

rook I n your 1pocket? ,And he s!?..i 'know how It 

Fot t lere 

And I s "You.  don t mem, to say tnat .a rock &ot 

.vouc pocket, without your "moving how it got there? And 

said, "Well I ci ' Can T tell you #b  the 7./r1 

id about it? 

UR. YIT11: .T 'objeo.to 

T111,11 COTYRT Objection us t ned., . 

' OBT.111%. 

 

yo',1 

A Ticr ,face 

ribs, the condition Q the girl 

wa,s all flushed; and.' F3.1vol-.  



Wad as little Spot on it, the lover lip. 

Q, And did you see any it there? A I saw the hat 1 

ing on the ground,. and she went and pickedit up. 

Q. What kind o± a place is this, officer? Describe 

th physical condition there -1. officer.' 

,that is not used  for traffic. 

that ffilace that: ni 

rock you have 

1.1, I didn't 

•GRO59 ..EXAMIVATION• 

-16e,t, .1. yQur name officer- 'though ...I I•nolv it v ery @1 

ve it... to .me N Repot t o 

as the de fahdan 



e 

ys there aiwall there? A Yes) there ii a Y,ll the 

and. tte ground there is slightly inclined, Duct there is a 

small hill the 

Were her back and 'shoulders re tj against the wall?' 

sir . 

+.1.1e situation as to him was, you Say, that he las 

kd of on hi S knees? A. When I taw her appear„d to be 

on his kn s- and bering over the 

Not or top of her? A Well the act 0 

, 'ell you haven t said that be fore 

say at. any time that he was on top 

over he2: ,end holding her 1rrn4 

Y Ou d Lin t 

lex. A well, .bendin 

you. .. he ran to,fards You? As . . 

rano and ran in T.y direction k 

Tell, he :Win t do any running at a2l, did he? 

artc:d to do it.? Well, he -ads nine or len .L.Ge ai.way from 

91en I ffrt.:sew• him,: and. he had only to Mae a couple 

• 4, te.ps before.. .7: 

.Q W.you say he a.i't.e.d to he :run. 

n:oing to et into a" Last Ztin. 

Q nut yt to say, from the siltuation 

A 3 t tt ix g ready to, runt *ell, he be. ( m1:d(3 In a7,e  
• . 

•1 I* .ti;111 O.  

where McGowan% at this 

t otwsorhc1yrtv).r) 2,11 bat 7 

We 1(1 n 

i 

MU , 

n 



..Q And ou t ee anyb:0 y titre but ihis mga 

.A• His brother, Harry T if ver.man he t ting on the ground 

when my p arthe-r- ar es ted him. 

Q. How far .awa,Y from the ,irl. and, t1 'defsnnt? 

The three Of. them . were tog 
Q.. He s it ting 'on.. the .ground? A He si ,,tin  

alon side- 04" .t.he right • •close to . her. ..He kia4 hold o 

her arw. 

close - • theri. you cam e. •-• A YeR, i X 

,.the officer.who W8M with you in , a .pos ition to. 

dee a 1  tbat you saw.? I t b in. It 11 0 CC ,.:i lci ee more 

than T c1i,, becouse be .t,' as et had 0 e T was two 

.or three fet to theeft t? him, e-n I a' 1 i .'le further baok ,. 

Do y xiO 7 w he re Mc Gowan lives? Wa a,rr ost ed . 

Iroay 

wh„le does he lire?. A 244 East 124nd Street. 

1,vr on g 3,/) ot t the addre s but i you w 111 le t me 

'efr esh . .memory •'T. can gJ.ve..y.ou. the ight • ci,dd re $ s 

Yee ' • I wi .h.ty ou. wo424.i. f yu c r o rc, ri th.c.)u • 

.,i1 di I 

A 240 East 122h -d Stre y Oux-5•4e:.1.4r, too much. 

KT.IP•13;., yeso thank *Uu r t .14nk that 

0 T el e t and t la at .4. ,1n 9014 t re o he 

e QOwn 'beidwher kneee They were dissir e ta • 

&

•• $1-40 had to hold them wi h, her and in rd,e r 

to fall to ti  coo I stra 

7 saw her .1:1 ct hint: 1, t '1,o7t n iicn 

ONO 04 ;, 

11 

C., 



you didn't se e Mc Gowan tat ni 

A. No1 sir- r eaw a man running away from thie 

group of three that was on the ground. 

In what direction did he go? 

tfler you nor your partner attem 

11, Are. oouldntt. We had -these txo , to look , after. 

'AI as arrested afterwards? 

• (The Court then admonishea the jury In.acco.rdance 

h Section 415 of the Code of Criminal Procedure end 



ji•kr,„ AM. 

MICHAEL 

TRIAL RESUMM: 

New York, December 12th , 1919 

MI R A G L*I of the Main Office 

sion Detective Bureau, called as a, Witness in behalf of 

the People, being duly sworn, testified as follows: 

BY MR. DOUCHUE: 

q Are you, a member of the police department of the City 

of New York? Ai 

Q T'41k up so that we all oaaa hear ?you. With what rank, 

of icer? A Patrolman. 

And were you attired. in. citizens clothes on the 13th day 

of September, 1919? A Yes, six!. 

.Q

 

And were you with another of ice; on that night? A' Yes 

What 

Q And 

the officer' s 'name? A Reppeti. 

re were you.? A On September 13th, 

officer Reppeti and I were standing at the 

125th Street and First Avenue. 

Nov  tell us abat happened here., 

cer si,anding at the same corner 

e ha6, conversation 

Did , you have talk wi 

.oaci a talk ith the offic r. 

And aftf,Jr .111t,t,t. what did .o.Li Li 

e 

about 11:3 

southwest corner 

offic r?, A We say 

tai,king to 61, female, 

le A Yea 

r 1 . A Vi.1 

61.11141101 

Cga 
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,P.4144! 

4. 

northerly to U7th Street and piret Avenue underneath the Willie 

Avenue Bridge. We looked around under the Willis Avenue Bridge,. 

.and we saw nothing. 

And then we looked west in 27th street and we saw persons 

moving about. 

Q Where was this, officer/ A At 127th Street,near First 

Avenue, between First and Second Avenue. 

Q And was it a dark or light spot at that particular time 

wheneyc:u saw these forms? A A dark spot. 

And was ,it on a 'dirt road or a public street? A It 

isn't a paved street, and. it is along the river front. 

A dirt road; is it? A Yes; s 

Now, t ell us : what you eaw, off ioer? A And we saw a few 

people Moving about and we waked in that, direction. 

BY TIIF, COURT: 

Is that an o.)en' area way or is it enclosed? A It is 

()lased.. And we walked in that directio .Arid., when we were 

about six or seven feet a‘Avay from these people,. I saw the defend-

ant Ether Tifverm n, and nother defendant by the name of Harry' 

Tify rman. 

,And, the defendant, finer Tifverman wax kneeling down, and 

was riht cxi top of a girl •there. We saw girl on her back 

there, and saw liarty Tifverman holding her down I.)y the, shoulders, 

(illustrating) and. the defendant, ti er Tifverman was kneeling 

coWn,1..en ins o (illustrating). 



northerly to 127th Street an rat Avenue underneath the Willis 

Avenixe Bridge. We looked around under the Willis Avenue Bridge, 

and. we saw noth ng. 

And then we looked west in 127th Street and we saw persons 

moving about. 

Q  Were was this, officer? A At 127th Street, near rat 

Avenue, between First and Second Avenue. 
• 

Q And Was it a dark or light spot at that particular time 

wheme you saw these forms? A A dark spot. 

Q And was it on a dirt road or e. pubLio steer A - It 

isn't a paved street, and  it is along the 'river front. 

Q ' A dirt Toad; is it? A Yes, sir. 

Now, t ell us what you saw„„ officer? A .And we saw a few 

people moving about and we Waked in that direction: 

BY THE .c.,OURT: 

Is that an open. area way or is it enclos d? A It is 

close:. 4zid we walked in that direction. And, when we were 

above six or seven feet away from these people, I saw: ;the defend-

ant, Einer Tifverman„ and inother defendant by the name of, Harry 

Tifverman. 

And, the, defendant liner Ti verman was kneeling dovirn, and 

was right on top of a girl there. We saw 4-41r1. on her back 

there ard saw. Harry Tifverman holding her 

(illuetrating) and the defendant, Einer Tifver 

down, ;pending over (11 ustrating). 

by the shoulders, 
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Bending over 'whom? Do you know? , A Over this littX0 

girl here. 

BY THM COURT: 

Q, Describe to the jury, illustrate the position in Which 

you -found the defendant. 'Just get down on the floor, will you 

and illustrate. A I saw Miner Tifverman kneeling down ta *phis 

position (illustrating). 

Q With his knees on the ground? A With his knees on .the 

,ground. And I saw Harry Tifverman holding the girl down '6y 

the shoulders and she was sh outing,, "Please leave me alone. Don't . 

Leave me long. find  when we 'Walked in that direct' n -they got 

up and the girl dresses were Lalling down, and her *waist was up., 

6),OReppeti _grabbed this Miner Tifverman; and. I 

By MR4 DO1f0aUM, 

Did you see Einer Tllverrnan do an-ything when he ot u1? 

A I E3w uin button up his trousers. 

You s hr that your elf? A Yes,: sir 

You are positve of that? A Yes SiT. 

What did he do then? A Offioer fleppeti asked hizu, 'That 

s.this?" And ho said, ',This is. Poth4rig,.. . We, were past sitting 

letn  hexe'." An  Offloer aeked the j.Xl how she ome to be 

there nd ohe :said 

.(Objeoted:to.,, ..Objection 4tai,Apd. 

' Q, 14a' she have on?' .A 1464 sir 

.Di4.yeu.8ee.th after :that?' Yes, $ ir, on the 
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ground. 

Q How near the hat yrss it? A Wcal right near her. 

Nov, 'dici you'notipe the obndition of her dress at.that 

tune, offioer? A  Idid. Her dresses were loosened and falling 

off her; her pettiooat and her outscL skirt. 

Q And what was the condition of: her waist at the 

officer? A Well, At was up (illustrating) and on her back there 

were stains of grass and dirt. 
• 

Q Was the waist torn; dici you notice? A didn t notice 

whethet, t was torn or not but I notio d that it'wqs open here 

(indioating). 

Did.you 

she had a blow 

otioe the condition of her face? 

he  in hex fade (indicating). 

Officer, will you tell us au. 

All 

Yes, s ir ; 

saw'. that. 

what the 6 on dit ion of her 

fa0e, asyou noticed it in the light's :that night

her face was arty, and she had a sore right here, 

mouth indicating). 

,What do you mean by that? A Like she was hit a blows 

THE cou Now,strike that out. Officer., 

was? A Wel 

about her 

J et the jury infer how the injury was inflicted,. e tis 

a desori)tion of what you saw. 

THE WITNIISSt' She had a li 1looc3 er and ooer 

119Ploatj: aSked her • 

. DDNOHUTt No, no; don t tell us tht. 

What was the c ndit ion of hem face? ,Was th e any' 



q. And was she bleeding? 

THE COURT: He has described that. 

DONOHUE: Veri well, six. 

defendant have Any talk with the other police officer? A. 

Q What did he say? A Officer Reppeti asked the 'deSendant 

And he said, "Oh, we are just sitting 

And then he asked the girl, "What are you doing here 

BY MR.. D0NORUI4 

No, just tell us what the defendant said? A AXld then he 

fiiskecL him, he searched h m, he found this stone in'hie pocket 

said be didn't know bow at got there, -and the officer said, 

"What dO you m6an? Thet you don't know how it got'there? 

Did you ever have any further talk with the defendan 

at any time at all after that, either with him personally or 

'beiween him ii Reppeti in y,..uT 2..cluence? ,A N, oirl 



oW did, t 6 r la aioomgaint to that night 

ana officer Reppeti? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you see anybody else there, officer, when you came 

0.10.ng? A Well, when we first appeared on the scene I $aW the 

two uefens..Ants, Einer and Harry Tifverman, and, three or four 

feet away I shw the shadow of a man running, but I don't .know 

who that was. 

Q You don't know who that was? A No, s 

CROSS FXAMINATION BY HR. KI 

When this girl appeared in the Magistrates' Court --

lie-as that the next day or two days after the arrest of the defend-

ant? A The•next day.. 

Q The next ,Lay? A Yes, sir. 

Q' Do you remember then she didn t show any marks before 

th 'Magistrate on her face; did she? A Yes, ahe did. She 

had a 1..ittle mark on her face. 

Q- Was it shown k the Mag,Lstrate? A Well, nobody asked 

for it. 

Q Although ehe had:appeared.and.testified? A Y s sir. 

Q Ana the magistrate.didn t examine her face, or ask an 

thing c-Abuut the marks on her face? A Nobody asked her. 

4 An  she .didn't say enything? A No. 

4,1110101i 

Q Now, you say that Reppeti. 

BY THE. COURT:. 

there an examination in the Magistrates' Court? A Thetei, 



BY MR. KIER 

Q- Now, you say that you and 14r.:Reppeti turnSd.the oarner,, 

and went up to First Avenue and 127th Street? A Yes, sir. 

Now, this scene that you have described, a girl on,,he• 

aok, nd :. man kneeling down, how far up On127th Street were the 

located, whereabouts? That is in reltionto First andSéoond 

Avenues? A Well, I should just about 30 feet away fromthe Willis 

Avenue Bridge,. on t;ae south side of 127th Street, Alongside the 

Earls River Casino .Bank or slope, there 

Q Well, you. say when you first glanced up there, you.vJ.w 

some figures moving?. A Yea, eir,, 

Q, •Adyohave said it was darkthere? .A 

Q now, was it dark or ht?, A It was dark. 

Q Well, how did you see figures moving 

se them from the.lights either at.SecOnd Avenue or First 

Q About how many minutes 'before you reached the scene th.t 

'you have described., u first see some persons up at this, 

CtuO moving around? A Just as we want further. 

Ws11-,. you say you and officer Reppeti game up to oertlx 

ere afi4r1 was on her back and a man on his knees. No 

low many minutes 'before that, did you see these 

.4own the street? A Oh, it was a few secohds; just 
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as ot there. 

Q Now, you have  said, thaws you looked up the street. you 

saw some people molting arcund? A Yes, sir. 

And when you saw that about how far were you and. Repetti 

_way? A Well, about twenty or twenty-five feet I . should judge. 

Q: And that wa,s how long before you rea.ched the scene you 

have aesoxibed? A Right "after that. We walked' up, just right 

.f ter that. 

And. the motions merely you saw were a man sitting dean 

and getting Up?. A The 'motions we saw were that we SaW the 

paxties  moving around; and, when we walked up there; ,and were about 

ht or nine feet away; this defendant got up and. walked, towa,rd 

s and Reppeti grabbed him an.d the other fellow got up Ind 'acilked 

toward 'us, Harry Tifverman and I grabbed him. 

And those 'motions that. you saw d,id not Strike your atten--

ti on did they? A :Yes, sir; they did. 

Q They were just a, man and :a .girl and an her Ilan practically. 

tting up and Standing and sltting ,d.own gain, or ,walking around? 

No; sirs / saw the defendant when he was  on his knees get up; 

Nury Ti4verman was holding the girl by her left shoulder, 

nrL the 1,f  rl was hollering' ”Please let -me :.4.1.ong. Don't do that." 

Q, Well but what were the motions lthen you irat saw them 

before 'you oame' up to them? A When we first saw them we seen. 

oti xis b„bout, That time we could, SOO the heads moving like. 

The zra.) ions were st inct? A Y 



You oouldt t desoiibe them exaotly 

Just mere motions  of people? A Yes six 

Q, And when You first .•sqw them you vt,re eight 

7 
Q But the form that you saw leaning over 

was in direct line with that form? 

And 'that form was the form of whom? A ,. The defendant. 

And yo a are positive of that? A ea sir. 

You and officer Reppeti placed the two Tifvermans under 

Q Where did you place them under arrest, officer? 

:there amid then, right et that spot. 

Q And about how far f rom the plao e where you saw, forms, 

should judge about fifteen or twenty fE 

REOROSO 7XAMINATIO$ BY MR. ICIER: 

,Lbout n;neet? Is It now fiteeri 
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• twenty eet? 'A By nine feet ,I mean that was the time when .we 

were walking over, and saw the defendant in the position he was 

in. 

Q And what about the fifteen or twenty feet? A That's 

\here we questioned them, took them under a light, and questioned 

them, 

Q Were you eight or nine feet away,  when you first saw ..1n 

motions at all? A No, sir; when wel first saw Motions/we're 

bout twenty feet away; and than 'we ;Eieen the motions; and. We 

walked up toward the scene, and within eight or nine feet, ISaw. 

the  defendant and the girl and Harry Tifverms,n in the Positions 

they were; and when they got up and walked toward First Avenue, 

it was about ten feet , and then We place them under arrest. 

Q You can't describe the motions you first saw, twenty fee 

awa5i.? A No, OiTs 

Q And this is an.opea spot; is it not? A Yes, 'sir. 

Q .And men and, womengts th.rough there, do they ,not? A Yes. 

Q .And wagons go through. it? A Noj sir. It is a passage-

wevY for  pedetrins. You, can get through there. It is very 

dark and along the water*ont. It is on the bank or slope of 

.Pulzer s 

THE ,OOLTRT: 

How far is the street lailway oar from this place, the 

'Willis Avenue oar? A That's about two blocks south, on t 

street. 

JOICOrn 

t4 
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Q Does this lot, lead to "125th Street? A No. 

RECROSS • EXAMINATION BY MR. ICIER: 

Q Don't you know, the place where' these men 

were arrested, and. you found. the girl, is a public street where 

horses and wagons and. everything pass? A Well, it is a thorough-

fare, but I don't know as t o whether wagons p es through or not. 

BY TEE COURT: , 

Q Is it a uaed thoroughfare? A No, sir. 
neighborhood? 

How long have you been in that/ A Well, I haven b been 

hatroighborhood bUt I know the conditions very well. 
- 

live around that neighborhood myself. 

BY MR. KIER: 

'0; That is, 127th Street and. 'First ,Avenue? A Yes,near 

rirst Avenue. 

MR. DONORfTE: that i.s the People-is case, if your 

Honor 

MR KIER: I move,. if your Bonor please; that .the indict-

ment be dismissed, beLcausethe.people have not produced suffi-

cient evidence to support the Indictment' 

Hr, COURT: Motion d 

KIER: Exception. 



, 

TIV DEFENSE:. 

.J 0 /I N M C a 0 w. A'N, of 240  Eabt 122nd Street, otalea 

as .a witness, on behalf of the defenct&t, being duly swOrn, 

testified.as follows: 

'DIRECTr EXAMINATION BY MR. ICIER: 

,McGowan, What is your first name? A 'John. 

Mare do you live, Jon? A 240 east 122nd Street.' 

You know Florence O'Neill, do you ?. A Yes,, sir. 

Q How lone have You known,hert A Well about two months, 

from living around the neighborhood. 

Q. Did you go with her a good deal? A No, 

Q, How Often? :A. I never want with. her. 

Well, you met her this night? A' Yes, sLi. 

Just State what hap ened that night? A All I know. 

is to talk to her.,.. that is all.. the girl 

• Well, .go on and tell us what happened that night? A 

night I vent to Proctor's, and I came out ofTroctor's about a 

quarter pas eleven., WI 1' was walking 'through 125th Street, 

That 

tgeen First and Second Avenue when I, met this girl. I started 

talk to her, and I ..was t lking,t heri for ab,Arb five minutes 

when Einer Tifearman came along, and he stopped, and he started 

to talk to me 'and so we,were ta4king there a couple,of minutes, 

when I asked the girl could I take her home and she consented, 

and I asked Tifverman toep along with me. 

We walked, through 125th Street to First Avenue, but we were 

going to take thit oar 'at 128th Street, that's where waited. 

WEL_ _a 



She'saidshe lived in thettonit.' 

Then while we were going to  127th Street,. on the " Second 

Avenue (:).01110.21 we ttopped' there: and we sat there, and. the 

young woman sat down too. I told.tiner I would be right badlt.. 

went, to get a itok of cigarettes, , and five minutes later, When 

baelc4 he wasn't there. 

Q Now, 0)=0' yOu,wentwith Finer and the girl a.ni ,Y u 4 

st .LQfl on the bank? A Yes 

L3Y THE 

iz 'You sat down whe2e? A On the stone, there,. near Second 

Avenue, in 127th Street. 

Howdid yOu;h6101:.* to sit don? A ,Well, them was .Sulzer 

Oasino there and they had a taoketHt,hete and We ,were talking 

there :a ,while; and we told the gitl we wore going .way, we were 

g 0 in fsto leave- her. 

And we 'were -talking a while,. .and we s$Ft, there 

First you said you were going to take her home? A , Yes, si 

And she obasented thatyoU dhoUld:take-he41, home? A 

r; she  consented :she .- ould be able to  the st of the 'way.'-

4eng. 

And then 

,L-rettes? 

go. and. I 

A 

Y 

sudce nly au v,rould a paoka  

We sat down there for two minutes and started 

"Finer, I'll be back in a • minute. / want 

o1ç of 0 iTarett es I' d when I r1uriU in bout 

411-

'\ 

• 



or ten minute ey ifere gone. 

EY MR. KIER: 

Did Finer in your presence throw the girl down an 

attempt to ride her? A ITo, sir. 

Q What were they doing when you left Ulm? A They 

were, talking. 'There was a big stone there, and we were 

sitting there, talking 

Q In, a, friendly way? A Yes. 

Q Did the girl say anything about helping her, that 

Einer was attacking her, and. for you to assist her  A No 

Ther 

Q Do you know a fellow named Gaffney? Yes, s r. 

9 

Be knew hot pretty well, didn't he? A Yes sir. 

$ a fellow around that neighborhood that knew her. 

Was he very friendly with her? 

MB - D MORT, Objected to. Evidently the pur—

po e is to prove so thing indirectly. 

THE COURT: Yes: I will allow himanswer tte 

.specifio ,question. 

Y V11.TWR 

Do you know that a. fnesr 'and s were 'very obd 

? 

MR . POtWiti I. obj t.to t 

COUT: You want to show that she was a1r2 

()solute ohs. acter 



•;. 

M • YIE . I don't know. your Honor. Iasktbe 

witness to find. out. 

MR DONOHUE! I have no objection if tr; Kier 

,a.sks the question directlyo :but I do' Objeoft'to his 

trying to, get in.. an :inferen0e,. because I am 'prepared 

to meet that ibs..t,e. 

THE , CCUR' Proceed, 

P .rv. IIR; 

QDo'YCu...know wtr Florerioe had a 'friend tithed 

Ga !xis y 7 A 'Yes'. 

Q And. were .fhey  friends? A Yet 

That 

And have you any knowledge o any relations between' 

—theta.? A WeI1,7, don't know anYtlingabout.that sort of  

• thing I couldn t tell you. 

They knew each other* 

You have no knowledge of any hi g of thtkind? 

BY TTE :will': 

, Q Did this '1 1 -ever na1ce an .ndøccnb pzojoal to yo 

No., sirb 

ny ot h person, in youx presence? A NO sir., 

not  t at know of. 

Cr.05.1,S EXAMINATION HY MP DONA 

Where do y u live? A 4o aet 122nd Ste 

Q Do yOu know tbl, 



got acquainted 

that neighborhoo 

street. 

And you were introdUced to ,ber in the ord 

t acquainted with this girl? A Wel 

'through other fellows* I lived aroun,d 

:at that time . and, she lived.aor the 

And, so far as you 

in your neighborhood? A Yeo, sir. 

Q, And that is all you know about it; 

Q Now, as ‘t understand it--- by the wa what 

*for a living? A Tintimith.helper 

Were you working on this particular day? A 

Where were you working OD hat 'ClaY S ept imb, 

In the s,hop,i, 

Where?, A ,35 East 105th Street, 

Q, And 'mbat is the name of the 'shop? 

East.  Rjrer Woxkse 

no months' no,, 

.q And that is tn the neighborhoOd 

Emit 4:22nd Street 

yx you vere in Proctor 

Q ,Where is ProotorTa Theatre? 

Third ,a11414 



ivr4v.. 

knoviN   44101111 

.0 we; t e *.kil;OW OVe 

•eleven. 010100k the show was out.

Were you alone? A No, sir, with another fellow. 

- Q With an her •fellow? A *Yes. 

, Where did you first .meet this girl.' th.at. night? 

.125th .Street, between first and Second Avenue... 

What were 'y u doing there?• • walked down. with 

this fellow. • generally Walk down seciond Avenue 

. Q Then you were not alone when you met the girl? 

Oh, I left the fellow when I Met . the 

Q Where was he then? A I .Left bin1 on the Firs t 

Avenue corner. 

Q And why did you walk. down to Second venue Just 

Walking  down, to see if I could meet any of my ./briende. 

.Q Well, you were going down to that pool room, Teren't 

y;n1 A No, sir generally go 4ovn there when 'T come 

from the movies. 

Q See the crowds, is that the idea? A Yes. 

Q And you had ro intention of going home at eleven.o'clock 

.Yes T 414 An a couple of minutes, half past eleven 

'could go home, 

,.Now, yol:). and T.1.116: Titve*main are  pretty .od. ett 

A Yes air, 

Q, And you hang. out together Yes,sir.* 

And You hang out, with r.4 lfli i th .P r0Qm • AX thèth±à 



11"Nielf oirmrtro. 1•2" 4Pleor 

in there, yes. 

Q /s it not a fact that you are a,11 one.oroird, en& that 

you, go into that pool' room down. there? A/ don't hag 

out in there. I may have went in there. 

Q Well, you .have been ln there many times, haven t 

you A Oh, no, not so many times. 

Q Well, you met Tefverman there a number of times? 

Yes 

And his brother, are you friendly h  him? A pray 

to peak to. 

You are interested in this case, are you not? You 

are very anxious to see Tefverma,n aequitted, arenft you? 

MR. Firm! ''ObjeotOd t 

THE COURT': Sustain.ed, 

MR POIVOT-TUE: May I confer with ou Honor for a 

moment? 

THE COURT: Ye 

(Distriot fittorney o hfe s with the Court 

Fr TM COURT: counsel for the defenee are you aware 

that this young man is indioted for. the same crime? 

rT,ER: 

yeHlr COURT: Then y•ou should haveeLtrner1 him as to 

hie rights Nving ppe voluntar , witness, 

anything that he now says owe be used  a ain t him 

COUR ressin the wi ness ) Who .113 your , 

awyer? 
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TRY WITNFS Frankl in. He is in. Part lit:, 

wopuld like to have here . 

TT IE COURT: Young man, inasmuch as 'you have 
94- - 

imparted to the Court information to the effect that 

you are under indictment charged. with aiding and abet-

ting Tifverman in the commission of the alleged crime 

G±' an attempt to commit the crime of rape in the first 

degree should advise'. YOu, as to your rights. You 

have a right to decline to answer any ques tion iv1iOh 

may tend to incriminate you or convict you of a crime . 

t'ut, if you voluntat ily answer any ques tions 

t hen the 4.iest ions can be used again at you on your 

Own trial. Nov,you are the judge to d t ermine whether  

you, will answer any queo tions ) but if you do, they may 

be used agairot you on your own trial 

TRE 'ITfl?P The re is , my counsel now, Mr. 

Franklin (indicating) 

'T IF' COURT: Well, I was unawar'e that t hio boy was 

under iiidlotment when he was call a.,1 by the defenses and at 

this  time,.au es tion pressed by the defendant for the pur-

pose of showing', tho int erest of the witness in the outcome 

f the'case , and now  for the fi rst tine, e expl4us to 

flie that he is a codefendant in this case , and. I have advi 

him as to his ri ghto , that, under the oonstittIon, ie is 

privir1. to refuse to answer any question that .may tend to 

i 



:A ,r?i'pr • 

'incriminate him or convict him of a crime; and that, he 

voluntarily answers any questions, it may be used against 

him on his tria,l. 

MB FRANKLIN: told him„ this morning) your 

ono that he was unthr indictment. 

MR. KIER: Of course counsel may call sny t-

ne s, ,.Thether he is under indictment or not. 

THE COURT: Yes, but common ccu.rtesy should have 
A 

induced you to confer with his .lawyezis and you should 

have told me that he was under indictment. 

M. KIER: The District Attorney knew it . • 

COURT: But I have no m ans of cotmttnicat-

_ 14g with him,unless 

you* 

call him up here, as T would call  

' Now, after giv.irig you. that advice, the, yves;tion 

may be asked, 

1Vg.3.„. FIANKLTN: W11L your °nor allow- me -to con-

th the :7ritne9s and advici hit as to his rights . 

"PRE COtJRT T•itrill advise him. You :may come 

around here, and ±and beeides him he-is, now 4, • 'rid, 

ne and a witness is not entit1ec  to counsel but I 

I'V1i iv "you the riviiee of standing alongside of 

BY VI DONOTM 

A ;i y u iwtereted n the outcons Qf t1iic se Mr. 

# 

r';i3 
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McGowan? 

• MR, ICIER: Objected to. 

Overruled. Exception..,. 

THE COURT: you can a,ek him the ef.Peoific .question. 

DONOT-TUE Yes s ir, I will,  it a minute, 

but want to find out what his  open mind is'. 

TRE COURT: 'you may decline tO answer that qu s#ono 

U you think it will tend to convict you of a crime. 

A Well,. on '.t know how I ceuld. be  interested 

Q 'Yes, or no. Are you interested? You .know w1br 

you are Or not? A --No, I at 'not interested. 

You have, been indicted, and charged with the .same 

offense by the Grand Jury oitiia County,; have younot? 

Yes, 

Q

 

And are YOU uot thtersted in wai happens to  

Mr. Titer Tifvermanis case? 

M. FIER: object to that. 

Overruled .1xceptioni• . 

Yn am interested in that. par 

Q, In3 naturally You. want to Se him acquitted; denit 

you? 

MR. !TR: Qijeote.i t 

TF,IF, COURT: I will allow it, vies o a4ct 

that the witnees E,.,ys he is under. Ind atment or 

offense AllQwed 

7=11 



1.1 

13:o eption 4 

We 11 I didntt see nOthing 'happen while I ml,t,s thare. 

U are natural ly interested. in tie Outcome? 

Yee 

•Q And you are. naturally anxious see the young man 

aoquitt ed; 'are you not? it Yes sir. 

Q N w, as you said before,  you have known him very well 

r many years? A Yes, sire 

Q And have been with him pra.otioally four' or five nights 

a7'Week?. . Well not so many nights no., 

Q And he comes, to your house and you go to his hou 9e ? 

Yea, a 

Q And you know his family? A Yea, sir• 

Q And you know his brother Harr don't you? A All 

I know h m is to speak to him. 

wo You don't know this girl very well,0 you .didn 

OW Vas girl very we 13. that night? A No Sir. 

How ma:ny times bati you seen her faettore that? A Well, 

seen :her pretty near every night when I lived in that 

401•ghtior400d,w 

•Well,, you never .-had hal any long. talks? A No, sir. 

You just blew her as a neighbor?• .A Yes. 

And v ry seldom did you ever speak to her or she to -

you? A Yea, sir. 

Qu had!) tt spoken to her more then half a dozen  times, 

Ii 



all together, had you? A Well, about  that. 

.had never takan her home before, had you? 

No, sir, 

Q Well, what was your interest in taking her home, 

that night? A Well she moved up, in the Bronx before tha 

and we vere talking. 

And you knew she lived quite a distance 1..,p in the. 

Bronx? Wher did you understand she lived? 

Street*. 

;A n 3.64t h 

Q And you were then at 125th street? A Yes sir. 

And it was then about half past eleven?' A About a 

quarter after. 

What time did. 'ott have to et up in the morning? 

Half past seven. 

And you ordinarily went home about halt past eleven; 

that right? A Yes, ;sir. 

Q e12, what was your interest in t king tnii  

this young girl, from 125th; Street; at tht hOur.of the nigh 

awai up in the Bronx Where OE- Well, because 

I' met the girl and cs talking to her and she was alOne, 

and I want to take her home. 

Q Well, just why did you subeeuertly andon the girl 

on tbi rook., axid ;say thit.,you would not take her home? 

Well this 'was ./i3P s treat 

(Question .repeated) A Well, the rl onsidered vith 

4143 



'Q And this road a well used road ? 

Ye iis1ght nearSecond Avenue,. 

Q And was it well lighted? No itwasn t so Very 

wellghted It is an ordinary street 

Well,isn't it known as a.. short cut? A Well, it 

isn't a short oroib, it is a street.,  

Q We 11, where you sitting.,there m,ta.s a (3.J:rt road 

was there not? A Yes 

And You 179re going to t evat ed tton, ,,!;re Den tt 

you? A To take the car at 128th Street  

Q, And you 7.ere greatly int „r sted in this girl at 125t 

Street, ax anxious to see her home? 

MR 'FRAN/MIN: May I interrupt and object to 

these questions,' your, Honor?, 

TH'Oli COURT:, . You • have becn standing by your client 

„nd you have ben remaining mute You have not object-

ed . b eto re,. Do you wan t him to ieo3,ine to envier? 

P F 'Yes:, sir, I ask the COurt to stri ke 

out all the uestion Fcle t ri 

Attorney. . 

COURT Well, h&I are You here '1-?or ftc you 

tale lip ectato r • or counsel for this witnes' YoU hays 

not objected before.,I t0.1d him istinct ly flu clearly 

gh4,4s 

youth of 

•also gave you the privileg 

ding -;by b1m so t bat you 

au se 

uici ad vi 

oi111011, 



MI. 111111 your floor permit me 1. r,a moment?. 

I understand that it is for the witness to say whe ther 

what he says will tend to incriminate him or not. 

rTr, 60tIPT T have t old you what tte law i s You 

are looking after your ellen t; 

MP. Y-TEP.'. Yes, sire 

11/113 COURT: And this lawyer's business is to look 

8,re you not? 

after his cliert. Here is a boy that does n 

• difference between tending to incrimin te and not doing 

so. You e trying to use this boy against his will. 

MP. FPANTLT.N.: I ask your - Honor o strike out 

t an 81,re rs made byi th 'itnsss in the c.ros.s-e'xamination 

of the DisLrict Attorney. 

(.10T_TPT:: I deoline to do s 'because the '‘vitnesa. 

has be en repgmtedly told that he can a,vai3 himself of his 

,constitutional privilege'; that if any. answer tends to 

'hurt his caoe, or tends to convlot him of a crime it can 

be used by the 'District Attorney._ 

Now), specifically: I will again instruct. him. 

AO to the last gaestion, you deoliiW to answer I 

,b cause it rn.i). tOnd to inOl'indtatte you, o:r you in -

a position \libere the District Attorney- oan use y Q-u.r te5 

molly in your. pm . trial? 

MR. 711A7L1N; And 'Tadvisetnee's tc 



anewe 

THE COURT: And I will allow you: tpdo tha 

account of his you  

Do you wish to answer the es,ti n? 

*FE INITNESS: NO, eir0 

UR • TI,ONOITTIF: roes h oc11ie to answer any more 

Of y questiOras? 

THE COTMT: go, put your questions and that will 

bE etermined 

BY MR. DONOEUF:. 

Q, Now, you say you not the gir in 125th Str fit between 

in re  and second. Avenue.? 

In. FRANKLIN: Objected to  

1' HE (')17RT : u st ai n ed 

Dowontyr: May I a. k ther counsel ecote 

to object to all my question her a,fter?' 

EP 'RANKLI1 X don't k ow but I expect tog, 

BY NI PONORTJE': 

At what particular point in 125th Ptreet, between Firs 

and 3eOoryd Avenue,,  Ui you meet the girl? 

MP. FRANKLIN: I aJvise him not to wer that 

SY TM: TURT 

4), You 
yes 

to 43.119,V8 r Qn the ground T stted toyou? 

4.11000 

kig-f= 

1] 



BY M. DONO1t11r: 

Q How 'long were you taling with his girl, f you were. 

talking to her, before Einer IiifverMan game along? 

MR. FRANKLIN! Objected. to. 

1' PE COURT: sustained. ri., rou knoit that this 

boy ',Alas under indictment and  had a. lawyer? 

M. CIR T knew that he was indicted, but not 

that he had a lawyer. 

1...9r COURT: I want to find but about this. Here 

e a young boy, eighteen years Of age, and, up to t ie 

present moient, he answered questions which may be used 

on his Own trial. While a defendant may call a co, -

fen ant , the co-d.efen cnt may decline to answer qves-

tione .1bich he thinks :trill tend to :Incriminate 

ITTER! My ollen.t told me to Subpoena him, and 

said he ws fling to gp op the .tancl when T talk-

ed o him, that he ',vas innoo ..rat, and feared nothing, so 

T put him on. 

r cs.otT7Tt The jury "viiid F.regarci the rems,r 

of the U8 e1  

T3Y MP. rONCTUrt. 
rid you walk toether, e.fter you met Tivermari and this 

g.irl on 125th ,9tre4A? 

MR. MKLIN I beot to tim que tion; 

to c v ttno I say. now, thaV4tny cit..testion askedac to the 

0014 



witnessi own conduct, 1 will obj ect to. 

MR. roNormr Well the direct examination is al I 

no and all the good Which oan be done the defendant 

already done, end; it puts the District Attorne3i-

the r embarx,11,esing position. 

TT-TT CC !MT: Ttat Cannot, be helped,IT would riot 

cross-examine him axrfurther* 

MR. DONOEUF: WI]. y Ou iDut you iinStructions to 

client on the recOrd p*.lse? 

.T.RE copriTi-, It is not necessary. 

counsel to appear as a nrntter of courtesy . 

M. ONOTTE : Then I will stop my cross-examination*, 

on the ground that counsel has told me that he will not 

.allow the ,ness to answer any further questions, 

your 

as to this occurrence 

tER. FPANICLINt, 

ect to them. 

MR. KT"PS 

that correct, 'sir? 

51 thatts the fact. 

only allow. 

ob-

'Before, the next'.wtness is sworn, j want 

to say that-he is under indictment if your Bonor please, 

HP. 00t7M1 Are you 14s counsel.? 

KIPP Yes,Aric., I have advised him. 

advised him to be elworn and to ansiler the questions t 

this 
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HARPY 'TV'T lf.V ERMAN of 534 East 134th Street, 

HrOnx1. a witness called on behalf of the defense, being 

duly sworn, t es tined as Pali:ha/a 

DIPITT EXAMINATION, PY R. 'MN 
Q Now Ilfverman thie iE4 your brother, is it not 

(indicating the defendant)? A Yes s ir * 

Q Have you been indicted Path him on t as charge o 

attempted rape; is that it? A Yes, sir. 

Q 'You axe a codefendant in this indictment; is ,t hat 

true? A . A Co clefendant, yes, 

Q And you have been indicted, ,and you are on bail now; 

you rot? A Yea 

Q., 'Now, .I an  youx.attorney; am I riot? A tes. 

MP 'TIER:, :Vow I advise you that, i f any ques-

tit:ins are asked ‘yOu by anyone in the court room, and 

the ane,.tiers vt:ruad tend to incriminate you ln relation 

to the Charge against you you May legally refitse to ansWer 

any queet i on of that *kind pci you 'alders tand, Me? . 

THE Yes1 yes, I understand you, 

rY P.- TgER 

volt 11 you p.coo d to am, er questions in relation 

to this case within the understanding that any question that 

y tend  to inoriminte you, you have the right to rellise to, 

me 0 

¶RE ,0 TIT: J that t ths rule. When you 

giffi )" 

1 
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put him on the stand as a witness, :and he is prepared, 

o give testimony voluntarily, igax you cannot put in 

yOur dide of the case, and then have the District 

Attorney estopped from putting in his side of the 

case. He is the judge to determine whether he is 

to answer on such subjects as be testifies to.. 

MR. 7IFR: But, on the otheFitynd', as any queetton 

may come to him is he not the judge, himself :whether 

the answer will tend to incriminate him? 

THT COURT : Yes, he is the judge, of course and 

It must be a. quest ion material and, ley nt to the 

FY M1. KIER; 

Q. Now Mr. Tifvernian wb t business are you in? Car—

penter. 

(The Court admonished the jury in accordance 

with oection415 of the ,Code of Criminal procedure, 

and took a,recess lantil two oyclook.) 

61111 
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TIFVERM recalled for further 

testified as follows: , 

(tiOntinued) 

T,venty..-nine, 

q !Mat do you do for a living? A Oarpent r. 

Q 
Q Working now? No, obly just ,opthe out of the 

b,ospital, I had to go through an operation. 

Now, you must talk louder,: so tiat, all these ent1emen 

can hear you.•Noskr„ do you remember the night of .thiaoccurrenos 

in question cii 5th Street? k yes. , 

q Tell us nn vhat end No 

speak in a loud. tone Cf voice, there :is no use of your talking 

at all, A Saturday night.b september 13th, 'about 11.25 p.m... 

ng through 125th Street, in,g .towardS home, 

Q Nolcr you Must talk loudsr. you , are speaking toO rapid-7, 

TY and in a low, ton Now, do better, ,ironit; you? I have 

touse.of  yor ta lk Ing 

•Street. I met a few 

uriless, it is loud there 

friends Of in troths.rIS, and. my brother Finer, and asked if 

they had seen ny brother and they said yes at First Avenue, 

that be WIe up irs Avøue towards 127th Strest., 
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7g 
Q G on, P Well I ,hi an appointment with my brother ' 

to go crabbing Y1 X t morning, and I thought I would meet him 

and go home together, being that I live on the other side of 

the Willie Avenue Bridge* 

Q Now,. prooeed. A While walking throigh 127th, 

Street., between First and pecOnd Avenue, I met tle brother,an 

the complainant .1 tting down together. 

BY TIE; COURT!' , 

Q Where? A In 127th Street, between First and Second 

Avenue so I asked my brother if he  vas g0ing home with me,, 

said he said yea, Then he asked the gir4.-to take a, walk with 

him up towards Second Avenue, as he may ,m MoGOwan, on the 

ay ups and the girl responded no. k  ud We might as 

,vait laere; Johny 1LdGowan said he t,Culd be right b 

Bo I sat down an the stone .about'six feet away from re 

the bi.othr  d, the girl 'vitsre ,sitting. ,After about a minute. 

0, 'Ire wete put under arrest, by two detoctives and one 

uniformed pOli oeman 

41Were yOU in t .ing,position ,111.en'. you --iviere put under 

r, tl A Yes 

And who is'&o n .c.?ttii p it ,onl A The ee of 1.1 * 

Well tante the part le s, ax4 how they were sitting. 

The brothgr And the ezei• fatting down tother x4 

sitting fully six feet* away from a; a tone4 

.1Di4 you brother make any .ttaok at 1i or, this T1? 



nOt in my presence, 

Q Did y u have anythj.gtO.doijth.ssetj 

Q T mean-any crime or offense.? 

.KTER You may cross-examine. 

olloss-riarmlon .P/ MR DONOHUE: 

A You don't kpow th4 girl a.t all you 

• Q You had never seen her'befOre 

Did you live with yoUr brother at 

And why were y u ao anxious tà go and:finct $tbat., 

.night. You had told him youwere going crabbing with 

A Yee. 

He knew you were going crabbing the next day, didn't h 

the: colioaciOn. for your •eeeiting. him tat par-

tioular night, and teliing hini you were going crabbing? 

I thought e ',Arolild go home together. It is ciulte 

a walk aorOglavthe Willittl'Avenue Bridged I have .been 0.o,Ouktom 

d to meeting. himbefore, the same 

9 We Ia, you didnit go home this way before, di.d you? 
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Q And page along through that save dirt road Not 

'through 127th Street; no, s1r 

Q You passed. this spot, at ni t bore? ttYes, 

several times*• 

Well Wasnit it a rather unusual way to go to Willis 

Avenue? A No, I lived on the other side. of tte brid.ge. 

Q Wouldn't it take you out of your way to go that war 

A No, sir, 

Q Wa.sn 't it better to go up to 127th street direct, 

out crossing t ivse rooks? A. I was looking for the brother. 

T met a few of his friends, and thay told. me he went towards 

the river.. 

,Q Well, .that was going away from your usual rout e; ,was 

it not? A yes, but anted, to pi ok him u I was told 

he went in that direotion'. 

What was the fellOils lame .that told You W14're, 

was? .A Monahan. And another fellow named Gallagher. They 

i he went 'towar4s Second Avenue 

Where were theY Wien they told you that? 

First Avenue and 125th 'Street. 

Th,at ,,va.0 about .3.2,..30? A ye s 

Q And they told you Our brother hd gone towerde te 

liter? A Up + va,rde 127th street. 

Q, And 1 ycu know wherfi to go Ofl4 fiUd him, hen they 

tolti You. that? Well, T gur d out  was. only 040 

of,irAg towards the o ay 

Aga 

. ght n ear 

-----
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Q When they told you that, did you knob where he would 

be? Yes or no? A X took it for granted he would be 

up by the river there. 

CZ Wkr1 you take it for granted? Because, every.-

body -in that locality hangs around, the river t re. 

But you Were going borne0 A Yes • sir. 

And.1.,vere you rather anxious to get to bed early, to 

.get up,early? A Yes, that was my intention. 

'Q W4 did You go looking for your brother? ft Because 

we had an appointment to 'go ,crabbing at Mason Point ' 

f mine has a boat there. 

*nd you had made arrangements earlier In the evening? 
, 

'Yes,- sir) aboUt. nine, otclock. 

Q And. then bat i.vae your idea, In going back, at half 

past eleven to make the arrangement's all, over .again? A Why:* 

I thought I. would have company to go home .s.o that we 

got up early to go on our fishing trip* 
did 

Now, this 11 41 fl Ott you/fin. Your 

trOther, it was .out of'our way' in going up to Willie Avenue, 

wean 1 t it? :A Well, t a direct course, but it ,vas 

an  inditeot cou' 

Q, And you uld.ntt have been near ttiat spot if voti 

hacin t. be en o °king for your brother? A No, sir. 

Q For/ did you find your brother in the dark? 

.00nd.hini sit 'JLh1Lown. 

friend 

Li 
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Q Did you'haVe any trouble in locating him? A Well*, 

went to1.27th street, end met him half way in tbe street 

re 

Q Well, it was very dark was ,i t not? A Not 80 •Crery. 

Q Well, Could you see him for some distance? 

A. No) sir* 

Q Isnit it a fact that you couldn t see him Until you 

got within ten or fifteen feet of him? A Yes, that i 

correct 

Q y ou know at what epot„exactly he would be? 

No, sir, I thought I would catch him around 127th. 

Street and gecond Avenue, and that is what brought me 

therei through that street, 

Q Did you see McGowan? A o, sir„ 

Q But you did see your brother sitting down with 

this .7,irl? A Yes six 

Q Did you talk with the girl? A No, sir 

Q Did you talk with your brother? A I asked him if 

he wis going , hone, and ,he said yes 

Did you, see the girl/ A yes. 

- Did she have her hat on? A I 00u dnit say that 

exa,0 tly 

Q Did she compl4n to yousbout hr skirts. and wsbt 

alt being torn? A No .sir. 

Did you c her vit orn sire 

OM 

r. 
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Q. Did you: see. her. when the offiber mile alone, with 

her waist torn? A • No, 

.Q DO yOu say that her waist was not torn? 

look a,t her waist, and I don't know whether it 

Q Didntt you see the officers assist her to, read 

1othing? Nø, sir I didn't. 

then, she readjusted her -own clothing,/ 

Q You saw the girl tte re didntt you? A 'real, 

Now, did you see her o3othing at. that time? 

the dres8 she had on. 

'gas it falline; down or torn A to, sir 

at her at all? A How could I see whether 

was dirty or not 

ition of her face? A No, sit, 

did 5i.ou see her in the etatiok house? A 

somebody in the station house x her 

ce for hero wipe t h blood oPf her mouth. 

Q Didn't you see any blood at all?  A NO1 sire 

Q Do you say tLat there ntras no blood on he;? 

rye et Ing, you 3nd 



Q Wei IOU thought that was a great Outrage, di 

you were. very .indiepant, weren't you? 

Well, were you. glad they were arresting you? 

simply told the officers, *We are gentlemen," azi went 

Q .(Question r elated) 

Q You were very much concerned,•werentt 

surprised or. not?.A To get a rested? • 

Q. Why not? see where we were doing anything 

wrong by sitting there. 

Q If you 'mere doing nothing wrong by sitting there, and 

the officers charged you with rape, 'weren't' 

NO, sir. 

Q And you were riot distuxbed in the 

Q, And, you, weren't interested in who made the niplaint 

against you? A Ca I say. wh.t she said In the etatiori 

'house, the girl? 

confplaint against me In the•station house. 

finish his anewel... 



R. DONOHDT I ask an: answer yes or no. 

Q Were you interested in tt erion who Made the charge 

against you? Yes- or no? A Well', there Irma no charge 

made against me in tre station halide,. The girl said. T T2snit 

in their company, and I had nothing to do with it. 'She said 

that in the presence of her aunt Mrs. Wr ght and her Married 

ooein• 

Q Were you arrested that night by the police officers? 

A yes. 

Q Arrested on the spot, eirLnever released, an'd you 

'haven't ben released since; have you? A No  sir. 

Q Ani you Saw the girl in the Magi tratest Court? 

This was in the ation house. 

, answer n uestion, Did you hr her testify n 

the Magistrates Court? A Yes, four daysJ. L r. 

A And did she at that time accuse you or not? She 

accused me Of holding her hand. 

And didn't, she also aocruee you of putting your hand on 

her shoulder, and keeping her down on the grotpd? No sir, 

sh only - said 'in .:the. station 'house that T had nothing to. .40 

with trt• 

COURT -t-' 

Who ae present at that t. me? A Her. aunt ,Mrs. 

and hermarried. cousin, 

And weretdetectj,es there? 'Yes 

ighto 

The. told the, 



6 
Itieut ant in charge, and T ,should think he would ut that 

on the blotter. that I had nothing to do With it, 

By MR. DONORTE: 

/WI did you, endeavor to subpoena those people any 

those people of the Magistrates, Court? 4 o. 

tia you ever mention that fact to the Magistrates' 

Court? A Let me explain myself. I will tell you., 

Objected to Overruled. Exception. 

THE COUR!' T will sustain the objection to that 

question unless you can show that he was a witness 

there. 

MR; D0N01,1U . Yes, sir he was. I have the minutes 

ri1it in front of m,e0 ife ras a witness there0 

THE COURT! Then; If that is the caee4 the quess. 

tion is admiseible 

, MR. KIER: Exception. 

BY MR. DONOHUE 

Q You t es t, £ ied i.n t he Ma gist ra tea Court, di dn 

yes, sir. 

ou ? 

Q Did you qay anything in theMagistrate Court about 

this girl ,being in the station h.oupe that you had nothing 

to do with it? A sta,rted to dictate' to the Magistrate, 

but the Clerk inei up there said., ToWait a while you have a 

orialice 1ter on. And Uri Magistrate said "Hive you got 

riy oestions to aek?" And it slippe my d then, 'and I 

, 



iStrattie COurt 

Q Whin you were On the stand you failed to tell 't2 

to the Magistrate? A NO, I told him that: on the 

and, 

Q. Will you please look at these 

and point out any spot where you Els:id that. 

failed tb ask that question. told you that before. 

Q You were put on the stand .and asked both by the 

DistriCt Attorney and the Magistrate what your story. was; 

Q. And you told your story, didatt you? 

Q, An  you failed to mention anything about 

lar fact that you are now testifying to? A Ye 

slipped my mind :and it isn't too lat to say j 

Q, Slipped' your mind? 

Q, Didn.lt you think it i,!+16.9 

but I didn_t mention that question. 

Q What is that? A I meant to say that 

to tell something, failed to ask about that. 

It slipped your memory? 

that oould be overlooked 



with 

have no counsel in the Magistrates Cour engaged a 

lawyer down here. 

Q Didn't you notice anything about this girl at ll 

at the station house, or at the spot wtre you were 

arrested? A No, sir. 

Q You didn't not ie her clothes at all? A NO, sir, 

Q Q Did you notice br face? A No, sire 

Q Ddd you know what kind of a gin, she was? Well 

11 tell you. I.chi 't 'know t I girl if I fell over her. 

She was a perfect stranger to me at the time. 

Q Did you look at her the night you were arrested? 

10)/qp in the station' house I got a glance t here 

Only a glance? A That.to all 

cl The officers walked yo.0 and your brother and this 

gi 1 -from the spot there' this thing was ,suppoted to 'Awe 

happened to the station house, dpritt they?' A Thegirl 

wa walking in front 0.f Me How, could I see her? 

Q You- pas ee dthroigh iefl lighted' streets? 

Q An  You say you didnit look at the girl? 

No, ir, not:until I got to the station hoUse. 

Q Did you lock. at ner cl °thee ? A No, sir, there as 

n ttiin tbe matter with her clothes 

Q .Tben ; as you came along, and ,found your brother si t in 

with this girl, were you surprised to find him in that spot 

o girl f thatage? X never expected to  find bim ifith 

Li 



Did Monahan and the other fella* tell you who your  

went up with? A No, r;. I didn't ask any questions 

brother .sitting on the rook with this girl? A Yes, six 

'Q Was it very dark there? A No, there was plenty 

light: there It was a public thoroughfare. 

('Question repeated). A 

River Par k and the Willis Avenue Bridge. 

Q And you considered it fairly well lighted, 

Q And, what was your brother doing with the girl? A 

sitting down there, talking with her, I• should th.nk 

A 'And. did ttte girl have her hat on? 

notice; I didn't notice 'whether she' had a hat on  or not. 

itfing there together? •A. Ye 

And you were there only a few 



to 
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was sit ting .do 

Q On the same rock that they Nere sitting on? A No, sir; 

a different rook altogether.. 

Q How big was the rook that you sat on? A Well, I should 

think about 15 inches in diameter. 

Q An  What were you sitting on the rook for? A Be told 

, me ha had to wait until oGowan oame back: And I wasr 

in a sitting position for more that a minute. 

Q And what the officers oaie ‘ere you standing up or 

sitting down? A Sitting down. 

Q Where was your brother? A Sitting about eight foot 

away from where I sat with the girl.. 

Q On a rook? A Yes, sir. 

Q Was he Putting his arms around this girl, or anything 0 

the kind? A No, sir. 

Bedidn't try to kis her while You e there? 

A No, 

Can you tell is how this girl's clothes were tort? A 

Was only there a minute andI didn't see any clothes torn. 

Q Or the mark on her Lace?  'A I didn't see no marks at all. 

Q How old did you say you were? A 29., 

Ther do you work? A I'm not working at present at all. 

Q when did you last work?* A 'Why, I was working previous 

arrest. 

Q Wh you orking? A ivae Working-- I'll have 



to think'. I worked in the building line, and. I was waking at 

784 West End Avenue. 

Q. Did you ever have 6. steady job? A Yes, always did. 

But a steady job in the building line is broken time. I'm a 

taloenter and  also a-derriok Iran, a  rigger. 

Q . Did you do anything else?' A No, that's slough for the 

building line. 

Q Do, you know these police officers? A Well, I know them 

since they put me under arrest. 

_Q Did. you ever see them before ;that night? A No, sir, 

Q Did you ever see this girl before that night? A r. 

BY THE COURT': 

Q How far away were you from the prosecutrix, the little 

girl at the time that the police officers approached? A Ifh 

was over six foot away from where the girlivas sitting. 

  At that time what was the girl toing when the police came 

She vals, *sitting there waiting for John McGowan to return. 

And what was your brother doing? A He was sitting down 

alongside of  her . 

And the girl w 

sir, AN 

not down on the ground, on her back 

:At any time that evening did U the, girl by the 

shoulder? A No, sir. 

9 Did she make any ou ory? A No, sir. 

BY MR. ro N 0 HU : 

Q

 

Do you. know what br the officers there A 

1 
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• Did; this girl make any sgund at all? A No, .e1r. 

Q Were your ,brother and. the girl talking? ,A I should pre-

slime they were when they were sitting down, but I was six feet 

away. 

Q Did you hear them talking? A No, sir. 

Q You couldn't hear anything that they etaid at all? A 

Q By the way, did you see that rook - did you see your 

brother have that rock the rook that he had in his pocket? 

A I 'seen it after the detective said he took it out of his 

pocket but I don't know anything about that. 

Q You saw the detective take it out of his pocket, didn't 

you? A No, sir; but he stated. he. did. 

Q Weren't you present when be took it out of his pocket? 

I didn't see him take it out. 

Q (QuestiOn repeated)?. A No, I didn't see him take it cu 

And how do you know that he took it out of hia pocket 

_A Because the detective said so. I was there at the time but 

I didn't see him take any stone out of my brother's pocket. 

Q Did. you know that he had a stone in his pocket? A No, sir. 

,Q, You didn't hear your brother say, "Give me that thing, 

.until I knook her on the head"? A No, sir. 

Q Are you married? A yes, air; but my wife abandoned her 

tvvo children ;ix 'months go. 

Yo:ud.idn't abandon her, oppose? A don 

Li 
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have.' to tell you this, 

MR. KIER: I object to this,, If your Honor please, 

unless we go int the whole facts.. 

THE COURT: I ,Will allow it. 

MR. KTER: Exception;, 

BY MR. DONOHUE: 

Now, do you remember whether this girl. _ talked to your 

brother, in your presence or not? A They . were speaking there 

yet. 

Q Vtrh,at did they say, if you heard anything? A I didn't 

hear a word they said, not one, because it didn't oonoern me, 

what they. were ape* ing about. I never butt into anybody, when 

they are speaking. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Did your brother introduce, you to this girl? k sir. 

Q Did you say anything to him? A Only if he was going home. 

BY MB. DONOHUE:• 

O Now, did you hear ,your brother say  anything to this girl, 

from the time you. arrived until the offioers arrived and took you 

'away? A he simply asked the girl to take a walk up to Seoond 

Avenue, and she  my meet McGowan on the way up', and she responded, 

ilNo, we may as well wait her, seeing that Johnny 'McGowan said, 

he was doming right back." 

to you know Johnny oGowa ? A Yes. 

Q You itnOw him very Well, don!you? A Well, about filre 
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year 

Q He La a great pal of your brother's here,isn't he? A 

don't know. I couldn't Buy who he pals with. 

.Q' Did you know anything about the eighty cents that McGowan' 

had taken from this girl? A No, sir. 

Q Did you ever know anything about t? A No, air; only 

What T 'heardp.later on. 

Q On that particular night, up to the time you were arrested., 

lid you know anything about the eighty cents? A No, air,not 

until Wednesday morning. 

You didn't know a thing about it until Wednesday morning? 

A No, sir. 

Q And this happened on Saturday night? A Yes, sir. 

Don't you remember testifying in the Magistrate Court 

about the eighty cents? All I toll there was what the de-

tective said, that McGowan was supposed to tice eighty cents off 

the girl. 

Q Do you remember testifying to this effect: No, she 

might as well waif there because McGowan said he wOuld be right 

back, being as he took eighty eents from he 

That's what the girl 'eaid. 

Then you did know abut the eighty cents that 
Court • 

NO, sir; She stated that it the Harlem/House. 1 te 

after the girl there. 

•Q Well; didn't your b other tell yo 

? A Yes, I said that. 

night? 

t McGowan had 



taken eighty cents from her? A o, sir. 

Q Did. the girl tell you? A No sir; I heard that Wednes-

day morning, before we had a hearing there, that he Was supposed 

to take eighty cents. 

Q No. Didn't you say that your brother said, that? A Well, 

maybe if he stated it. 

And. Maybe you stated it, too? A Well, L don't ,know 

whether McGowan had eighty cents, Whether McGo.wan took eighty 

oents from, the girl or not. 

Q, Dicin t your brother tell yoi that, that partioular night, 

just before the officers came along? A I don remember whether 

he did or not. 

Q Well, what is your best reoolect1on, that you knew about 

the eighty cents before the officers came or you did not know 

about. it? A Unless the girl said that herself, when she said, 

"Wait here for lohnny McGowan, and, that he had-ta,ken eighty 

cents from her. I've been through a serious oase, f sickness 

d. I may forget a little bit; but,, as long as it i a on the piper 

must have said It. 

.MR. ICIER: Now,vvould like that read off, what he said.. 

BY MB, DONOHUE: 

Now, what did these fellowa 

That he Went up First Avenue to 1 

ell, yo U about your brother? 

7th Street; that's where 

the Harlem River 

Q ' You had som di fioulty in fr4in 

..• 



Now, listen to this. Did you give this testimony: 

inquired his  whereabouts. He told me he went up First Avenue. 

ent up rat Avenue and looked on 126th Street, and didn't 

Is that right? A Yea, air. 

Q Did you testify you found him in 126th Street? A No, 

looked in that street. 

Now, did you testify in these words: "I went up to 127th 

and about 75 feet west of Second Avenue, I met my 

sitting down with the complaina.nt. Did you so testify 

Could you see where he was sitting down? go* far away: 

re you when you, first paw him sitting down? A About ten feet, 

Well, it was because it was dark, in -that Place, was, it 

t? A,No sir; because I wasn't looking in that direOtiOn. 

what was the reason? A: I was fully ten feet away 

en I asked him if he was ping home 

But you Said before that you -saw him when you got within 

en feet of him A Ten or fifteen l feet. 

Q - Well, if ,it was as light as you claim It was, why oouldn' 
fifty : 

see him a distariPe of forty or/feet away? 

enty 'of light there. 

Q Plority ot light? A Yes, 

iEYt-
Int` t--7....117.17.7.1 



• 
But this particular. spot was in direCt line w.i. 

'Avenue, wasn't it? e. like a sidewalk,'but it 

% REDIRECT -EXAMINA PION BY MR. KIER: 

Q Now, you hate been asked about your wife by Ir. Donohue. 

Q She abandoned you and your two little children? 

Q When? A About six months ago. 

Q What are the ages of your children? A Six and. 

With a man named Otto 

,What do you. Wksh t 



M. Dr)JrHuE 

BY • •kIER : 

: 

lan: want to prove that he was workingman. 

THE .COURT: Well .that doesn't prove it, if he was in a 

hospital. 

BY MR. KIER: 

Q What hospital, were you in? A The Lincoln Hospital., 

Q, Then for 38 days you were not working? A No, sir; 

Q Where were  you? A In the Lincoln Hospital. 

Q What was your , trouble there? 

M. DONOHUE: I objeot to that as immaterial. 

THE COURT: I sustain the objection. 

A Broken appendix. 

THE COURT: Don't'-  answer a question, 'witness, when there 

is an objection. 

BY MR. KIEF: 

Q How long are you out of the hospital? A, About three 

weeks and I go to the dispensary yet for treatment. 

Q And you, say that you are a carpenter? A Yes sir. 

Q And have you always worked for a living? A Tee, r: 

Are you a Unin man? 

R. DONOHUE: Objected to. 

THE COURT: That is immaterial. 

M. ICIF,R: But I am trying to show that this WWI a 

workingman Mr. Donohue said. that he didn't,  work . 

rHE COURT : I did not hear any pruoh question. 

I asked him if he did work. 



Q And do you always work when you are well? 

am a carpenter and a derrick man also. 

Q Now, when you were in the station house and this girl 

Florence was in the station house now, take your time 

tell us just exactly what was said. First, who was present there. 

and mention the details? A Do you mean behind the desk? 

Q' .No. When you went to the station. house, 

two detectives, Florence O'Neill, the complainant, I and the 

brother,and the complainant's aunt, Mrs. Wright, and Mrs. Wright's 

married daughter; know her ,name. 

Well, what did she say about you there, the girl? A Well, 

irat the Lieutenant took the brother's 

the Lieutenant asked, the complainant, What about the other 

fellow?" not knowing that I was, Ina $ brother. 

that I s his brother. And she stated, "Why, he wasn't in my 

.company. Se ,had nothing to do with it." She said that in the 

presence of her aunt and married daughter. 

n Were you present at the yes, you were present at the 

Magistrates' Court when Florence testified in tb.is case? A Yes 

Nobody knew 

Q Was it the first time you were 

rreeted in the magistrates' Court for being it)toxioated; 



•THE COURT: 
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do you ask such. a question of your 

diSO 

client? I have warned, you several times that that questions 

Is Improper, because jurors might be under the impression 

that you had the right to question a man as .to whether he 

had ever been arrested before. But the law Is clear that 

you cannot do that. You have the right to ask him if he has 

heretofore been convicted of cri* 

BY MR. KIER: 

Q Were you ever convicted of a crime in your life? A No,sjr. 

Q But you say .you were charged with into-zioation once? 

Yesi sir • JP 

Q is that all? A Yes, sir. 

Q Nothing else in all your life?* A No, air. 

REOROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. DONOHUE: 

Were you convicted of that phrArge in .the *Magistrates 

Court? A Well, X 'received a suspended sentence. 

Q Now, jUst give me the names please, of those witnesses 

who were present. The two officers and  who else? A The girl 

was there and the brother was there. 

Q Two officers and the girl? Yes, sir.. 

And ,who else? A Her aunt, rs. Writ, an1 her married 

daughter. I don't know her name. 

Q How did you know' it wastirsi. Wright? A My brother told 

me that n 'the c ell, afterWards 

Q Is thatall? J Yes, sir that's all 
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M DONOHUE: All right. 

BY MR. ICIER: 

Now, I am going to read to you just that part of your 

teetitony as to what you said 'about eighty cents ' Now, *ell me I 

that is what you said before the Magistree. This is what took 

place before the Magistrate, at the hearing before the Magie-

trate. I. am going to read your whole statement. 

. DON6HUE: Yes, you may do so. 

Q "Harry Tifvermaa, defendant, being duly sworn, deposes 

and says: 

"q What i s your name? A Harry TifVerman. 

'IQ:. Where 'do You live?, A 594 East 130th Street 

Ho What is Your. oeoupationf A Carpenter. 

"Q What; are the facts about this charge? 4 I was On my_ 

'road to go co ose Willis AvenUe:bridge, :and met it few friends of 

my brother; and I inquire of his whereabouts. He told me he 

went up First Avenue. I went up First Avenue and looked on'126th 

Street, and I didn'i see hit. I went. up , to: 147th Street, and , 

about 75 feet West of Second Avenue, I met my brother, sitting 

down with this comPla ,nt . I asked him 'Do you want to take a 

walk home?' He said, 'Yes.' With that he asked the girl if she 

wanted to go up Sec nd Avenue and she said no she m ht as well -

wait there, because McGowan said he would be rght back being as 
' 

he took eighty cents from her. 

"Q What else hunpen ed? A .he fi thin knew WQ were 

Ff,=== 
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under arrest, that all. While we were there, there waa no 

harm done, or anything out of the Way. 

sQ Did.you see these two officers?' A I 

testify in that way before the Magistrate?. A Yes. 

•M. DONOHUE: And is that all the testimony he  gave 

Q "By Mr. Burns:q What i)osition.were youth?. 

fully five .feet away from the girl. 

• nq Weren't you beside the girl? A Fully five feet away, 

Q And that was 41 the. testimony. you gate:'befor e the magio-

duly sworti1 estified as folIowe: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. KIER: 

Q What d.id you say your name is?' 

Q, How d are you? A Twenty-one: 



*Diens you speak loudly, because everybod 

Do you understand that? A 

• Q Where do you live? A 534 1st 1 

You are not ashamed of New York, are you? 

city. And. have you lived over there -- have you lived every 

ay of your, life until now with your parents? A Yes. 

•Q Attd were you ever convicted of any crime in your life? 

Q Are you working now? A Yes. 

-Q And you have been working since you have been out on b'atkl? 

just what happened that night, in your own lay. A When I. was 

wal king through 125th Street, met McGowan and this girl Florence3 

•First and. Second T.was 

First 'Avenue,' .and. got there, and. McGowan aeked m 

SoT took walk -with McGowan and we walked along F1rs. Avenue 

up 'to. 127th Street. 
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Speak up louder. These gentlemen are straining their 

ears. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q You took a w 

Q Go ahead. 

k with McGowan? A Yes, sir. 

Up to 127th Street between First and 

Second, and we ,sat down there. We no more than sat down more 

than two minutes, before McGowan said was  going to 'Seoorici 

Avenue, to get something, nand lie would be "right back again, 

I waited there with the girl, and about five minutes later the 

brother came along andasked,me was I going home, and I said ,yes. 

Ara, then I asked the girl, "Take a walk Up Second Avenue. We 

#.t, Meet him, McGowan, on the way up. And she said.,. "No we 

might as well wait here!" And he stated he had eighty cents o 

hers. That was something I didn't know anything about. And in a 

couple of minutes detectives oome down and, looked us up. 

Q Well, 'did .you attempt -to have any sexual connection With 

this girl? First do you know what I mean by sexual. connection? 

You know the act between a male and a femal e? A Yea. 

Q ,You know what I mean? A Yes. 

Q Did, you have anything to do'like that with this 1? 

N sir. 

Or attempt to? A No, sir. 

Q When she appeared in the Magistrates' Court, did she show 

the Mavistrate, when she testified, any clothes, or refer to an 

clothes being t t or di o dered? A No, sir. The Magistrate 

_717iLt 
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asked be  that, Wishe didt t Show nothing tórn or flothiitiAi 

Q And You say you made no attack upon her, or assaUlted.her 

n any way at aLL? .sir. 

M. ICIER: You may cross examine. 

BY THE COURT: 

In what position were you found by the police? A I was 

eitting down with. the girl.. . 

Q Show this jury how you were seated. A I was sitting do 

on the side of her, waiting for McGowan to ocale back. He .said h 

would be tigh t back. 

Q You were not in a kneeling .position A sir. 

Q Your knees were not on the ground, in the. manner described 

by the second officer A No, sir: No, your Honor, wasn't 

kneeling at all., 

'How long had McGowan been away before the police arrived?' 

•Why., e was gone about five minutes. or so, your Honor. 

9 Did  you run away? A No, sir; no, your Honor. 

Q Did you make an atteept to do so? A No, your Honor. 

Q .Was this rock found in your pocket, (indicating)? A That  

a mystery to me, 'how it got into my pocket. And why should *I 

want to have a rook in my pocket? 

Q Did the girl say; "Please stop; leave me alone"? A No,air. 

Q Were your trousers buttoned or unbuttoned? A Just the 

same as I Am now. 

Q It Isqulte a lonely spot, is t not? A Well,it's a 

t"44 

C11 
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public street . It's ligh'ted. 

Q it was on 127th Street between First and Second AVenueet 

Yesk.s r.  

Q Well, on which side is Sulzer's H rle ver Park? 

It is on the southerly side of the street, is it not? A Yee. 

Q And did you see ,any persons pass thuough that neighborhood, 

that night, other than your brother, McGowan, and the two police 

officers1 and the girl? A No, sir. 

Q Did you? A No, sir. 

How long were you there? A I only was sitting there for 

five minutes 0 or so, 

Q Did you see any persons pass other than your brother an 

MoGowan? A No, sir; there is a 'stable right there McAvoy 

stable. I used to Work there one time, and peple borne down to 

thatstable. • 

Q Was there an affair in Sulzer ark that night? A Yea ,e 

•CRops EXAMINATION BY MR. DONOHUE: 

Q Did you ever know this girl before? A I had met her 

six or seven times before. 

ct Six or seven_ times? A Tea, sir. 

And u knew her by sight d dn't you? Ye 0 

say HeLo oroo in 4 while. 

That was the limit of your acquaintance with her? A, 

that 

And when  you saw her and mcGowan toethr, did 

they were go'ing hom e 'to 

Yee. 

know 

gather., that he wbe 'brinelngher hone? 

MOO 

r,-
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Sure. He must have been bringing hex home as they were . 

going up there,. 

Q Well, why did you walk along with them A He asked me 

to take a walk. I live 'up in the Bronx myself. 

Q You live up in the Bronx? A Yes) sir. 

What part f the Bronx? A 124th Street. 

Q But you usually walk home from 125th Street don't you 

A Well, being I wanted to take the car, do. If I haven't 

any money I don't .-

Q (Question repeated). A I usually walk home if I haven 

any money, but if it is raining I'll ride over. It's according 

to the weather. 

This was a clear, night, Viaf3 it not? •A Yes,, sir. 

Q And you intended to walk to your home? .A Yes. But he 

asked me to take a walk, and I didn't know where they were going 

to go, only he asked me to take a walk. 

Q Where were. you going? A I was going up that way, home, 

in the Bronx. 

Now, 'will you tell us how you g 

police officers found you, if you were 

eat down there; and I sat down with him. 

Q Well wasn't that off the course 

home? 'A I understand that the girl says 

Q Yes or no. Answer my question, p 

walking: home? A according to 

t to the spot where the 

going home? Well, UcGowat 

4 U U 1 lks take, 

ease. When 

way T wan 

u were 

to 

SO 



Q QA.1 etion repeate 

168 

Yes or no. A Well oat take. 

Willie Avenue Bridge. 

Q (Question repeated). Won't you answer my, question, 

please? . A Well, it wasn't off the course. I oould go, any way. 

Q It wasn't off the course? Well,, there's the Willis 

'Avenue Bridge, and the Third Avenue Bridge., 

Q Well, you were pi.ng over to Third Avenue? ' A Well, 

didn't know which way they were going. They were 'going west. 

That's the way. 

Didn't you hear your brother say that was off your 

rregulax course when you were going home? A 11.7.04., anybody can go 

that way. It is a public thoroughfare. 

Q Wen, so that you were off the usual road you take 

go home? A Well, I oould go over the Bridge 

Q Well,could you have got to ,any bridge, walking straight 

along where the officers, picked you up? You were on Second. Avenue 

and -- It was on 127th Street between First and Second.. 

Q YoU were on Second Avenue, 

sirs in 127th $treet; 

Did you walk up First or Second Avenue 

Q .And weren't you at 127th' Street 

sir. And then we went up 127th Street. -

Q Weren't you on First Avenue and 

with the girl and McGowan? A Yes. 

And they wanted to take the t 

with these, people wer en? t you? 

A Firet Aveue. 

d t AVenue? A N 

th Street when be 

, d tb y? A I don't, 

1 

tR9itl 
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know. McGowan asked me to .take a walik; that's all. 

Q When you were at 127th. Street and First Avenue, 'where 

did you want to go? A McGowan _asked me to take a walk, and 

took a walk with him. 

And when you went 75 feet east on 127th Street, where 

would that lead you? Wouldn't you go into the river? A Oh, yes, 

it is over 75 feet. Close on to 200 feet.. 

Q If y, u had oontinued east on 127th Street and First Avenue, 

- where would you wind WA, A There IS, an, entraace to. the place 

there.. It is only a couple _of blocks away; at least 'there is 

a ,L,ridge there- in 125th Street,' 

Q Now., listen, to 't4y‘ questions:. ,.You are on 127th Street an 

,First Avenue? A Yes. 

And, if you go direCtly east, :where would it 'and you? 

A But; We Were going south, north ..- the. way we were' going. 

Q  Now, I am asking you.if you were 127th Street and First 

Avenue id Went directly east, where would it iand yoU?, 

there is a river there, and you would, walk in the river. 

But, you went 75 feet east of First Avenue? A We wen 

west. 

w Q TowToward.Second Av nue? A To d Second. Avenue. 

Q Well didn't you hear your°the s4 you went east? 

A No. We didn't go east. We went through 127th Street. W 

walked from 125th Street' u) to 127t4 Street, and walked up toward' 

Second Avenue. 
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Q 'Where were you go ng-then? A Well, We sat down there, 

at  least MoGoWat sat d wn. 

: How did you happen to sit down? A Wel he was talking 

to he. 

9 Who talked. to her? A McGowan, 

Q What did he say to her? A I can't remember. 

Q And what ' were yuu doing at the time? A I was sitting there 

Q Just sitting. there? A Yee. 

.Q. What was your idea of sitopping in that partiOular place•to 

sit down? A I wasn't in the company of the  girl, he asked her 

to tike a, -walk. 

Q But you sat down there with her? - A Yes. 

Q , And he skeC you to take a walk to 125th Street? A Yes. 

And when you got in, to 127th Street between First an 

Sem:aid Avenue, you sat down on ct, rook? A Yes, Sir. 

Q Didn't that seem to you p,eouli-r  out of the ordinary 

A No, it waan't out of' the ordinary. 

Q Wasn't it dark there? ,A No,  there is 1iht from the bridge 

and from the In terboroUgh and Sulzers 

And did you sit down beside the ..;irl? 

McGowan' did too? Ai.. NO, he no more than.t down when he 

got up,, and se id he was going to get something, and went away. 

Q Didn't you talk to MoGowan on the way up 'from 125th Street? 

A Yes. 

Q' It was i the baok of the pr1, was it o ? A No, sir. 

MOM, 4 
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Didnit youacrange to bring this girl over to this da rk 

spot, so as you oauld attack tier? A No, sir. 

Well, when you 'saw her at 125th Street were there anymarks 

on her face? A No, sir. 

Q What was the condition of her clothes? A She had a blao 

skirt on. 

Q Was anything the matter with hr clothes? 'A No, 

And, can't you tell us how her olothos were torn and dirty? 

A No sir; 1, can't. What  do I know about her clothes? 

.Were they torn or not? A No, sir; they wPre.not torn. 

q, sir. And was herface discolored? A No 

Q. And, .her mouth was not out or bleeding? A No, sir. 

Q W04, when the officer arrestediyou, ,how near to the girl' 

were you? A 1—was sitting about that much from her (illustrating 

Q And did you hays your arm around her? A Na, sir. 

• Q Did you hear her ory out? A Vo, 

Did she make 'any noise at all?- A No, sir. 

Well, do you know how these officers vire attracted 

this p aoe? A I don't know. 

Q There was no noise there at all? 'A No, 

Q- Where was your brother at this t 

Yes. A, After we went up there,

five minutes or so after McGowan was gone 

going home? 

Q Did you introdoe im to this girl 

bheIle?
 A' My' brother? 

brother cote by, about 

and .asked me iI was 

A troduce. him? 

Li 
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He don't know the girl, e just come ttp 

and.  asked me if I was going home. 

Q And what did he do then? A The girl said, "You might as 

well wait here, because McGowan said he would be right back. 

And when I asked the girl to take a walk up Second Avenue, and ,we 

might meet huii there, she  said "N9 he might be back again here." 

Q Did you make your brother acquainted with this girl? A No,. 

How long was your brothex there with the girl 

A,.bnly about a f.Sw. minutes,' 

0 -And where was he sitting?. A. He was .sitting about five or  

,si;cfeet 

Ap,4:y2u:didn't intrOduce hi„ to the girl? 

Did youtell the girl ,:who he .1 did I want to do 

(Questi A, repeated) . A 

And you sat there fox a 

e than oat there afew minute 

you ear A We had 

when the detectives come down. 

.Did you see them coming along? Wholdid 'you know first 

hat the detectivew were there? A Well, they happened to come 

down by the girl'. 

Did they 1. 



And tlieigirl was sitting on the same rock? A Y 0 0 

Q• An you say her clothes we,ma,11 right? A Yes, sir,. 
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Q Did. you go to the station house with this girl? -A seen 

her up at the station house, In the  Magistrates/ Court yes. 

Q Did you see her — here after you were placed under arrest 

at this particular spot at 127th Street, did you see her when the 

officers placed you widerarrest? A That do you 'mean, did I see 

her? 

,,You were arrested right at the spot trhere you were sittin 

with thiS girl; weren't you? A Yes 

Q Did you see the girl then? A I was sitting with her then,: 

Q _Dia you notice he  clothes' as the officer caMealong? 

A There was nothing the matter with 1163/clothes. 

Q Yes or no. Did you notice them? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did you see her holding them up in her hnd,s?.- A She wasn't 

holding no clothes in hands; 

Q And her  clothes were not falling, down? A. No, sir. 

And did you notice, her waist? .A No, sir. 

Q Did you notice, v,']ether she had on a ,waist or not? A She 

haa a waist, sure. 

W'S the i,4.1 t torn? A No 141, 

Q Did yOu. see v]iothei it was torn or not? A Jow oould it 

be torn? 

Q(tuestion epeated). A HQr ist wasptt torn. 

Q You a Q sure of t,11(4t? A Yes. 

MN 
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Ybu, noticed. that? A Yes. 

Was ,there- any dirt on her 'clothes? A Unless the dirt that.4 

was on the stone, sitting down.' ' 

Did.you notice whether there were any reen spots on her 

back? A Vlell, I couldn't notice anything the itiatter .with the girl.' 

There Was no dirt on her at all.

Did you hear the girl oharge you with  having ttempted to 

have interocuise with her? A. Yes ' but the girl was lying, when  

she ,said 1 had anything to do with her. 

Q (QuestiOn repeated). A Well, she se,id that ' to the 

Magistrate. 

Q, , Didn't she tell the police officer that Om .this partiOular 

spot,:.you tried to have intercourse with he,/ A No, air 

Q What Aid' she say? A She didn't . ay anything. The oioer 

came .41 ong and, grabbed us right there. 

4 And did they :tell you why they were,arresting you? 

don't know. That's a tunny thing to me. Reppeti punched me inc 

the jaw, and the other aficer punahed" my ,brother it the jaw. 

That's all they did. Thenihey looked us U. 

They didn't tell yuu -Ally they were arro:Aing you? 

And you were Lcalooet, you thought, at th- A  

.And y make any inquirss ftoi.theSe. afioers as 

to why they re arre tint you?. A Ia ked. them what, vatil the 

.1.1hs.y asked' the Lir. , I uess. 
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Q And tiatdid they say to you? A: They locked US up, didn't 

say a word at all until we got to the station house. 

Q And you didn't hear the girl s4r anything to the Officers 

• , - 
eitheil- A No, sir. 

They 'didn't say a Nord to you, and you didn't say a word 

to them? A .No, Sir. 

And yo, didn't hear the girl sarYOu knocked her down, a 

tried to have intercourse with her? A I don't know whether she 

told hp that or tot. 

Q, Didn't you hear it? A No, sir. 

Q By the way, where did you get that rock? A Why, that's 

mystery to me, your Honor. 

Q But Ikere.dild you get it?- A I don't know how the rock got 

in my, pocket. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Are you in the habit of oarrYing rooks? A No, air. 

have a good cbaracter. / never carried anything, 'any weapons or , 

anything 

BY R.  DONOTW • 

There is uo question that tbi of icer took the rock from 

u pocket; js there? A (NO ansve0. 

BY TiF COURT; 

Did he take he rock out of yourpocket? A No, sixl, 

didn't see it 

Did he 14k it up froth the e;xo ad? A , • d ci 

MOM; 



know bow it got in Illy 1P0-00) 

DONOHUrt 

Q And. the officer, then, didn't take, it out of '7 ur oolt;tT 

1! 

And  you were here when the. little girl testified.;. weren't 

.you? A Yes i 

Q Didno.t you .hear her say that something was said about that: 

"Give 064 thing to me and I'll knock her on th'e.head ? A Well, 

she Can say anything, because .she is.lying 

Q That was not said at any part of this occurrence when.. 

you were sitting on the rock next to the girl, or close up to the 

girl? A .No, sir;, she didn't say nothing of that kind then. 

She said At on the stand here. No, sir; it wb,6 a lie. 

Q Ind you have no idea how the Took got in your pocket? 

A sir; it 6 a lie. 

.(z How long have.you.known the girl? A I've. known herlor 

soetiwe, just t .sarhelio"to her... I know her ootte.in he 

Wrights 

:Q .Did .you ever have any trouble with her or the'Wrights,or 

the police of..t:icers? A No,ix: 

Q Do you know any reason why this girl should come into 

court and tell us this story that 'she told us about.you? 

THE COURT: ne moment please, that question is objected 

Why didn't you object to it, counsel? 

MR. iecc4use e has a good answer for it, hat h 

10111101 

L__ 



• 

117 

:gave me,, and I wanted him to give it to the District Attorney. 

THE COURT: oo a lawyer should always objedt when his 

technical rights are lavaded. The question asked by the 
r 

District Attorney is incompetent, and has been condemned by 

the Court of Appeals. That questitin is objected to. You 

can't ask the witness to give reasonsfor something that 

some one else did. 

BY R. DONOHUr: 

Q Where do you work? A I work up at 141st Street,he in-

dustrial Engineering Company. 

AZ As what? A Carpenter's helper. I itiza working there now 

since, I came out oh bail. 

Q And hems that where did you work? A For Lee Brothers' 

and a couple ex )1aces. 

q And where vent you working. at the time this occurred? 

A Lee, Brothers. 

Q Were you. working that very day? A I worked half a day. 

Q :Were you working for this particular firm on,t24s day? 

A Half a day; 

Q And diu you work the whole week before? 'A Yes 

What is the name'of that firm? A Lee' Brot 

Q Where axe they? A 210 Tast125th Street. 

Q How long had you worked there? A I workdd there about 

three years and a half, (xWiAnd on. 

oing what, if on? A JIel, or's work 

411111101 
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And aow much on? A Wells working pretty steit.dy• 

Q Doing .what? 'A Handling furniture. When slack, 

Q They are furniture movers? . A ' Yes 

Aid you worked by .the day? A Yes, sir; and I worked 

Steady, because I had a lot of other places to work. , I worked 

on City Island, at the camps and on Governer's Island. 

Now, this three years you worked for Lee Brothers, did 

you work In other, places, too? A Well, I worked itt MoAvoy's 

trucking business at 127th Street. 

Q. Did you work anywhere else than at Lee Brothers While 

You worked for them? A Well, . I was working pretty steady there', 

four or five days a week. Maybe I would work a month or two with-

out losing a day. They have fifteen automobiles, and I was a 

helper. They bought Out the Northside Storb,ge peopl 

Q And In September how many did they have? A Three 

fifteen. 

Q Are you sure of that? . A Yes, sir. 

Q And isn't it a fa,ct that you Went around there; and got 

jobs by the day? A, No,  sir. That's a big firm, Lee Droth!rs. 

That ' s oorn:er affair.' They area. big - f irm. 

Q Did You, klicive.at tho time  you were sitting on, this rock thot 

40Gowah bad takenighty centS from this gilt A No, sir; I didn't 

kno* anything about ' the eightY cents. 

' But you did knoi of It Lhct night? What the 
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The girl said o me she lost eighty aenta, but "I  ctidn't know 

nothing about ,no eighty oents. 

•Q Didn't you tell the Magistrate that MoGowan took eiehty 

cents fromthe girl? A •No sir.. When I said to walk on,  .ai& 

We might meet him, she s4L that. 

Didn't yeu say this ih the.ilagistratest Court: And the 

girl was talking to me and said MoGowan took eighty cents, or 
• 

soMething like that." Du you say that? A I didn't sarnothing 

•u„bout ao eighty cents. When MoGowan went away, she said„ "We 

may asmell wait here because he has eighty cents of mine." She 

said that when I was sitting there with her, 

:REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, KIER: 

141'9 you i& the girl frightened when the offioers came up 

and arrested you? 7111eY came Up sUddenlY, didn't they? A Yes. 

But why should we be frightened, when we weren't doing anything 

wrong?. 

Q' ,Well, was that girl frightened at the, arrest? A There 

was nothing the atter Nith the girl at all. She must have been 

frittaaed. There seeiaod. o be something the matter 'with her. 

Q Did you ex eot officers to come up,tOi you, while you were 

sitting there? A No, iir; there wa0 nothing out of the way. 

Well were YOu: frightened?. A No,sir; but I .didn't know 

what bpened to me when I was under arrest. 

Was the girl exCited? A Yes, she was excite when she 

had to go to the st,,,,tion house, That was all. 

J1401101 
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weren,1 You exalted there, tOOT A We1lo..3res 

Q, , Was the girl exalted? A I guess she was. 

You were sitting there, and never expected these officers' 

to come up and arrest you, (3.i,d,youl A, No, sir. 

RECROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. MOM/Et 

q You wauldt t have gone there, if You had expected offiaers 

to come there gter you  ould you? 

Objected to.) 

111E COURT: Well, that is speculative. Objection 

sustained; 

ROBERT DAHL, of 177 East 123(1 Street, a vfitness 

aalled an behalf of the defendant, being duly sworn, testi-

fled as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY 3. ICIER: 

v. Dahl) ';hat is your bus 

shop. 

Q A cari:.)ent,er shop 

ness? A I run .a carpenter 

o'ux o*n? A Yes. 

Q ' Alio You a carpenter? A Yes.,  

How long .have you 'b,een in businese A The last eight-

een yeaxs -- that 'is in the trade, not for myself. I have been 

in business for myself for the lst eight years. 

In York, here? A Yes.. 

VifIrevWan is re1ative 

Sub-contracting. 

of yours, I 'believe? : A A ccusifl. 

Ana yuo. hcve 4own hLm froxa- .birth haven't you, ',E0m 



Q And do you know others who know him in the neighborhood?' 

A Well, not all of them. 

Q Not all, but you .now some people who know him? A. Yes,. 

.Q• And do you know what his reputation is 

his reputation s,s a law•abicling oitizeh? A As 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY W. DONOHUE: 

Q How are you cousin pf his? A His mother is my i 

And you are intimate with h 

Q And how inataiy times have you seen him in.the. last y 

Say about an -average, of once a month .or so,: probably. 

And. you have seen him at home, haven 

Q And You, don't know *who he associates With; do you? 

on.behalf .o f thedefendant,. eing dui 
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DiRgoT EXAMINATION BY MR. KIER: 

Q Mrs. Tifverman, is this your son, the defendant, miner 

Tifverman? A Yec 

Q You ar. t, a widow, I believe, are you? A Yes, sir. 

Q And does he live wi,;,th you, your snn? A Yes,sir. 

Q How old is he? A Twenty-one. 

Q Twenty-one? A Yes, air. 

Q Do you know Other people who ,know him in the neighborhood, 

neighbors and all that know him where he lives? A v)8, sIr. 

Q Is his reputation, there good, or had for de enoy and reoe 

and quiet? A' ,As far as I know, he's all right. 

ANDRE,W B 0 R G.' ENDA HL, of 2013 Fifth Avenue,: 

witness oalled On behalf of the defendant being duly sworn, 

testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ICIER 

Q You are a41ergyman, I believe? A Yes, sir. 

Q Where is yor ohuroh boated? A 126th Street; on ,the 

W60 side; 74 west. 

And you have beer thr,re how nany yea s? A Well, we huv.e-

been there about 'three y ars in that 

the Swedish Congregation. 

Q Now, 41.0ou know the Uefendant, 

defendant? A I know him. 

Q How lonILhve yq.A4'1:nown ? A 

uroh I am iastor'for 

iner Tif rM 

, ye. known 
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toxixteen yeaxe„ 

Q Now, do you know other people that 'know him i the 

neighborhoodoother persons? A Yes, I d.o. 

Q- Now, do you.know ohuth s reputation is for decenay an 

have heard Aothing bvt 

good. about h,m, and hi own mother has spoken highly of him 

d he was in my oonfirmation'claes about 'five year0 ago.' 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR DONOHUE: 

Q Doctor,- are you basing What she said here upon what the 

doctor understood your 

BY'MR DONOHUE: 

Q Are you basins u tell now, about his being 

a good boy, on What his mother alone told you? A Alone, yes. 

She .toll me that be had been a good b 

Q In othermords, the Distriot Attorney would like to know, 

whether; in estiMating the reputation of the defendant, 

whether you are i)asing ycur judgmeAt upon what his mother told you 

only, or upon what other e' sons have said regarding him, includin 

.h s mother? A I have talked to very few people ,t,bout him, very 

Q And then you'bace-yur cbpinion solely ,upon 
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Said. to  you? A yes,aici my own experience with him. He 144s in 

my oonfirmat ion too, and is always, a good,obedient boy 

BY MR. DONOHUE: 

tz Now, you haven't seen the defendant since when? Men cii 

You last see him? 4 I 1b.i4k this about a week ago. 

No, before he was i.rreated, 'doctor. When was the last 

time you sw him before ,he waS arrested? A don't remember thz.t. 

Q Was it one, .6.; to or three ye6rs? A 0117, no. Insiae o 

year, because he used to oome to the church but I can't always 

notice people that come to the church. 

Yoit didtlt know -him whet he was a17ay from you, did you 

that is, yOu didn't  know' his movements\ Or associates in the Lst 

five years, did you, doctor? A No, .• t say that I did. 

Doctor., about low .may times would yOu say that you saw 

the cie!ennt in the la.st five years, since he left your oojfirrna-

tion class? A Well„ I caci 't ,exactly say. 

Q :We1,1,vihat is your best recqllection, doctor? A This is 

hard for me to say, i-.,ecau e I have only met him now and then. 

ill i to yt.,1).. I ask you how many 

times did you 'see .him i the laSt" five year ? A WeJi,a e 

1 about hoy, j•Tiles would you sy those few 

were? A Well, when Shook hands with him,a.cX z.-.,1ked to h 

tea 

11, I can t E ergantly how many times? 

Well, hc ny tL4e, LUUt, ii the t 1ve * ? A 17e11 



very few times. I visited their home, once in a, ,whiles .bnt 

live in the Bronx, and I live in Harlem. 

give .us your betat recolleo ion or your best 

as to how many times you have seen the defendant in te 

'last five years? A Well, I would meet him and spealt to him 

Just approximately the number? A This is very 

bard for me to tell, the number. 

Q About how many times? Ten times in ,the 1 st,five years, 

A This is vecy hard for me because we see so many 

People., 

Q Well, do you Say that you S Witt him, ten times in the  last 

five years? '''A I an  afraid to say that it is that many tiMes. 

Q Well, when you 'saw him where, would you pee 

I met m in the street or in his home. 

In his home? A Yes, sir.: 

And when you met' him on the sbreet, it;woUld be nothing more 

or less.thanGood evening, doctor, "and"good evetingn:from you 

Irna.),t ever 

and. so, on  „ad he is-,almy.s sober and so on. 

,how m:.,ny people have you lked 'xith about this 

s. ha its. 'and Condu'ot in the last ,five years, 

de of his Give us an idea about that? 

is very few . eoauso we have so many people;' and we danit 

to them all 
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tif ing for the Lielendaait, because you re sorry for his mother,, 

and in sympathy with her? 

.,(O1.4 t0d" to. AlIo ed. Exception.) 

A Yes. 

And it is not beaause you personally r call having spoken 

to illrloodY . about -this  defendant at all outside of his mother; 

is it? A No, sir; we very seldom talked to 'individuals or

Q And you are 'basing wh- t You 13.4Y about him mostly on what 

the: tothWhas told...you, since these boys have been 'arrested; is 

that right? A (No ata*er ) . 

Do you understand my questiyn? te.S.,  I guess I do. 

You  have t est if led' here for this boy?: A' 

An you.are 'basing that -upon 'what the mother 1146 told you 

almost wholly, aren't .you? A Well, not exactly. This is on 
a*. 

my own behalf and on behalf of the  good work I have been trying 

o do for these bOys. His orogher Was in my confirmation class, 

tot, 

Q And that w&a some earo ago? A Yes. 'And I feel sorry 

for them, and 1 am working under the law, and' I amming in the 

gosPel 

Q In Other •qit ds, you are trying .be do what good you an? 

A Yes. 

,REDIREOT EXAMINATION BY MR.. X 

Now, doctor, how Many years have you cnovvn the defendant? 



•fourteen years ago when I came Harlem, and I. know the fam 

Ana had you ever heard anybody 

fendant? A No, sir, not thAt I can remember. 

Q, Well, you re not *Pal of his, you don't go 

him? A Well, I am around the people.. 

Q (Question repeated), You don't go around to the 

rooms and other places whereli goes to? A Oh', no, 

warn my boys not to go to places like that. 

,Ana you confirmed' him, . d.:14 You? A Yes.-

Aadlou mat to see ,him turn out right :don't you? 

give 'him back to his mother? 

his pastor. 

*Proper' to make, that statement 

this time, and that,reMark Should tot have been made; anu 

e paiy will utterly -disregard it. . 

Your duty,' gentIMet is to listen the evidence, a, 

sl'berate upon it. Questions of fact 

will be submitted toyou,'.  and, you must:oonautcp them alone. 

You, must el your hearts, :and permit your minds, to work 

No attempt to hve the heart warp the mind should 

:be allowed. You ars,:here-to decide a personal fact did 

the cis:enciant viol4e .0 1(,):Law of the state.. 



MR KIM, And will your Honor's remaxitei. be 

28 

.mad applicable to the complainant? 

TRE COURT: Certainly. And they must not be preludibe4' 

in the slightest degree by the charge Made by the prosecutor. 

.Thi64 not asefilr sympathy for the :prosecutriX, or pre-

judice against,the.defendatt beaausi of the nature of the 

'charge'. But it j, Your duty to ir6artially Weigh all the 

,evidence„ and .determine whetherHthe laws of the state have. 

.been violated by the defendants 

R. .KIER: We ',fest. 

THE COURT Any rebuttal? 

MR. DONOTITiE: Yes, OiT. Hower, we ie) 

THE COURT : 

MR. ICIER: 

DobQth @ides est? 

Ye 

. DONOHU„ Yes. 

MR KIER: Will your 

come to aum up, but I have 

nihts past on oome legal 

ould your Honor adjourn now? 

THE OOIThtT Certain1y,I 

SumMatiOn charge 

and it is now loUr o 

Hono bear me now? The time has 

been sitting up very late, severa 

matters and I am very tired, and 

will tate 

clock. 

It is the hour of adjournmen 

11 adjourn no, because the 

east an hour and a half, 

(The Court admonished the jury in acqordance with Section 

415 Of, the Code ,of Criminal Propedureo and,adjourned the fur-

ther trial of the case to Monday morning, December 15th, 1919, 

4 11 o 
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